Mechanisms of Lipid Droplet Formation by Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA) Isomers and its Effects on Cell Viability

by

Gayatri Thiyam

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Physiology

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

R3T 2N2

©Gayatri Thiyam, 2010

ABSTRACT

The putative peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) α ligand, conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) induced cytoplasmic lipid droplet (LD) formation in H4IIE rat hepatoma cells. Currently, the mechanism(s) by which CLA isomers affects hepatic LD formation is unclear. We have investigated the role of PPAR α and fatty acid (FA) activation in the regulation of hepatic LD formation induced by CLA isomers [*cis*-9,*trans*-11 (c9,t11), *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12)] and linoleic acid (LA) in an *in vitro* model of lipid accumulation. Dose response of c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers as well as LA in quiescent H4IIE cells was assessed by Oil Red O staining and subsequent quantification after 24 hours. LD formation was induced by the CLA isomers similar to LA in a dosedependent manner. However, treatment with the acyl CoA synthetase (ACS) inhibitor, triacsin C, resulted in significantly reduced LD formation. A similar reduction in lipid accumulation was observed with the PPAR α activator, Wy14643. Furthermore, CLA isomers promoted H4IIE viability at 60 µM but decreased viability at a higher dose of 180 µM.

To further understand the role of PPAR α in hepatic steatosis, we studied the level and phosphorylation of PPAR α in livers of male lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed either a control diet or *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed a CLA isomer (0.4% wt/wt c9,t11 or 0.4% wt/wt t10,c12) diet for 8 weeks. Immunoblotting results showed that only the t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly reduced phospho-PPAR α S21 compared to the lean control (ln Ctl) and it was associated with a significant increase in the phosphorylation of p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK). These changes were not observed with the c9,t11 CLA isomer.

Taken together, we have shown that CLA isomers directly induce LD formation in quiescent H4IIEs by activation of the lipid storage pathway which was significantly reduced by triacsin C or Wy14643. Also, we demonstrate for the first time that only the t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly reduced PPARα phosphorylation while it increased p38 MAPK phosphorylation. These results indicate that the anti-steatotic effects of the t10,c12 CLA isomer is associated with changes in PPARα phosphorylation and thereby its activity in a MAPK-independent manner.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My first and foremost gratitude goes to my mentor and supervisor Dr. Peter Zahradka. I thank him for being such a humble and down-to-earth person with his door always open to everyone. Thank you for enhancing my skills of asking questions and seeking answers and nurturing my inquisitiveness, which is the best thing about science. Thank you for your relentless guidance, unwavering encouragement and providing me with important insights and your honest scientific advice throughout the course of my studies.

A very special thank you to my co-advisor, Dr Carla Taylor, for her tireless encouragement, support and useful critiques. Thank you for being a driving source of inspiration. Her wisdom, leadership, and knowledge have been instrumental in helping me achieve my goals and complete my work.

To the members of my committee – Dr Chris Siow, Dr Michael Eskin and Dr Peter Cattini, thank you for their time, expert guidance and being a source of support and for their honest evaluations.

To all the members of the Zahradka and the Taylor labs- Danielle, Raissa, Sherif, Heather, Vanessa, Karin, Jordan, Jennifer, specially, Danielle Stringer, Leslee, Suresh and Azadeh for your patience and help and answering my questions through both the good and tough times. Thank you for your beautiful friendships, scientific and personal conversations, and making the lab environment always a fun-filled place to work in the entire facility. A special thank you to Danielle Stringer for providing the liver tissue from a CLA intervention study in fa/fa Zucker rats.

To my whole family for their unconditional love, support and encouragement, especially my sister, Usha Thiyam, for making me strong and building up my spirit through all these years. Special thanks to Ronald, I would not have been able to complete this work without your unconditional love and faith in me.

Many thanks to everyone at CCARM and the St. Boniface Research Centre for all co-operation and timely help specially Sue and Mary for their hard work and help with all the administrative works.

Lastly, my gratitude is extended to the University of Manitoba for generously providing me with financial support during the course of my studies.

DEDICATION

To my family

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
DEDICATION	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	Х
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Study Rationale	5
1.2 Statement of Hypothesis	6
1.3 Aims of the Study	7
1.4 Anticipated Significance	8

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD)		9
2.1.1	Prevalence and Significance	9
2.1.2	Sources and Composition of Intrahepatic	
	Triglyceride (TG)	11
2.1.3	Key Players in NAFLD	13
	i Role of Lipid Droplet (LD) Formation in NAFLD	13

	ii	Acyl CoA Synthetase (ACS)	17
	iii	Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptors	
		(PPARs)	18
2.2 Conjugated	Line	pleic Acid (CLA)	22
2.2.1	Soι	arce and Synthesis	22
2.2.2	Phy	vsiological Effects	23
	i.	Obesity and Insulin Resistance	24
	ii.	Diabetes	26
	iii.	Atherosclerosis	26
	iv.	Cancer	27
	v.	NAFLD	28
2.2.3	Pot	ential Mechanisms by which CLA affects NAFLD	28
2.3 Effects of Lipid Accumulation on Cell Viability 3			33
2.4 Treatment of NAFLD 34			34
2.5 Summary of Current State of Knowledge 34			34

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Rat H4IIE Hepatocytes 3		36
3.1.1	Cell Culture	36
3.1.2	Cell Treatments	36
3.1.3	Cell Lysing	36
3.1.4	Oil Red O Staining	37

	3.1.5	Cell Viability Assay	37
3.2 Live	er Tissu	e	38
	3.2.1	Protein Extraction from the Hepatic Tissue of Zucker	
		Rats	39
3.3 Qua	ntificat	ion of Protein Samples	39
3.4 Sodium Dodecylsulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis			
(SE	OS-PAG	iE)	41
3.5 Gel	Transfe	er	43
3.6 Immunoblotting		44	
3.7 Stripping of PVDF Membranes		45	
3.8 Data Analysis			46

4. **RESULTS**

4.1 Dose response of CLA isomers and linoleic acid on LD formation	
in rat hepatoma cells	50
4.2 Triacsin C effectively reduces LD formation in H4IIE cells	58
4.3 Wy14643 reduces lipid accumulation in CLA isomer as well as	
linoleic acid treated cells	62
4.4 CLA isomers promote cell viability at low concentration	66
4.5 Wy14643 reduces cell viability in the presence of CLA isomers or	
linoleic acid	70
4.6 Role of dietary CLA isomers on expression and phosphorylation of	72

PPARα in *fa/fa* Zucker rats

5.	DISCUSSION	80
6.	CONCLUSIONS	93
7.	STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH	95
8.	FUTURE DIRECTIONS	97
9.	REFERENCES	98
10.	APPENDIX	134

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Dose response of <i>cis</i> -9, <i>trans</i> -11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on lipid	
	accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells.	52
Figure 2	Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells	
	treated with increasing concentrations of cis-9,trans-11 (c9,t11)	
	CLA isomer.	53
Figure 3	Dose response of trans-10, cis-12 (t10, c12) CLA isomer on lipid	
	accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells.	54
Figure 4	Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells	
	treated with increasing concentrations of <i>trans</i> -10, <i>cis</i> -12 (t10,c12)	
	CLA isomer.	55
Figure 5	Dose response of linoleic acid on lipid accumulation in quiescent	
	H4IIE cells.	56
Figure 6	Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells	
	treated with increasing concentrations of linoleic acid.	57
Figure 7	Effect of triacsin C on lipid accumulation induced by cis-9,trans-	
	11 (c9,t11) and <i>trans</i> -10, <i>cis</i> -12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and	
	linoleic acid in quiescent H4IIE cell.	59
Figure 8	Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells	
	treated with triacsin C on lipid accumulation induced by cis-	
	9,trans-11 (c9,t11) and trans-10,cis-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and	61

linoleic acid.

Figure 9	Effect of Wy14643 on lipid accumulation induced by cis-9,trans-	
	11 (c9,t11) and <i>trans</i> -10, <i>cis</i> -12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and	
	linoleic acid in quiescent H4IIE cells.	63
Figure 10	Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells	
	treated with Wy14643 on lipid accumulation induced by cis-	
	9,trans-11 (c9,t11) and trans-10,cis-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and	
	linoleic acid.	65
Figure 11	Effects of cis-9,trans-11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on quiescent H4IIE	
	cell viability.	67
Figure 12	Effects of trans-10, cis-12 (t10, c12) CLA isomer on quiescent	
	H4IIE cell viability.	68
Figure 13	Effects of linoleic acid on quiescent H4IIE cell viability.	69
Figure 14	Effect of Wy14643 and fatty acid supplementation on quiescent	
	H4IIE cell viability.	71
Figure 15	Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-	
	12 levels in livers of lean and <i>fa/fa</i> Zucker rats.	74
Figure 16	Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-	
	21 levels in livers of lean and <i>fa/fa</i> Zucker rats.	75
Figure 17	Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α levels in	
	livers of lean and <i>fa/fa</i> Zucker rats.	76
Figure 18	Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels	77

in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

Figure 19	Phospho-p38 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in	
	livers of lean and <i>fa/fa</i> Zucker rats.	78
Figure 20	Stearoyl co-A desaturase 1 (scd1) levels in livers of lean and fa/fa	
	Zucker rats.	79
Figure A.1	Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-	
	12 levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.	137
Figure A.2	Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-	
	21 levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.	138
Figure A.3	Effects of Wy14643 on phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen	
	activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma	
	cells.	139
Figure A.4	Effects of PD98059 on phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated	
	protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.	140
Figure A.5	Effects of trans-10, cis-12 (t10, c12) CLA isomer on phospho-	
	p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in	
	quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.	141
Figure A.6	Effects of cis-9,trans-11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on phospho-p44/42	
	MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent	
	H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.	

142

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	List of Chemicals	47
Table 2	List of Primary Antibodies	48
Table 3	List of Secondary Antibodies	49

ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	acetyl Co-A carboxylase
ACS	acyl Co-A synthetase
AF	activating factor
ACOX	acyl CoA oxidase
ADRP	adipose-differentiation related protein
ALT	alanine aminotransferase
АМРК	adenosine monophosphate-dependent kinase
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APO B	apolipoprotein B
APO E	apolipoprotein E
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
BMI	body mass index
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CPTI	carnitine-palmitoyl transferase I
CVD	cardiovascular disease
c9,t11 CLA	cis-9,trans-11 Conjugated linoleic acid
CLA	conjugated linoleic acid
CYP4A1	cytochrome P450A1
DEX	dexamethasone
DHEA	dehydroepiandrosterone

ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	extracellular signal regulated kinase
FAS	fatty acid synthase
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FA	fatty acid
FFAs	free fatty acids
FRIL	freeze-fracture replica immunogold labelling
GLUT	glucose transporter
HCV	hepatitis C virus
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
Hep G2	human hepatocellular carcinoma
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HSC	hepatic stellate cells
HSL	hormone-sensitive lipase
kDa	kilo dalton
LD	lipid droplet
LDL	low-density lipoproteins
L-FABP	liver fatty acid binding protein
LA	linoleic acid
LPL	lipoprotein lipase
МАРК	mitogen activated protein kinase
MetS	metabolic syndrome
MRS	magnetic resonance spectroscopy

MUFA	monounsaturated fatty acid	
NAFLD	non-alcoholic fatty liver disease	
NASH	non-alcoholic steatohepatitis	
NEFA	non-esterified fatty acid	
OLETF	Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty	
PAT	perilipin/Adipose-differentiation related protein/Tail-interacting	
	protein of 47 kDa	
РКА	protein kinase A	
РКВ	protein kinase B	
РКС	protein kinase C	
PFDA	perfluorodecanoic acid	
PPAR	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor	
PPARα	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor α	
ΡΡΑRβ	peroxisome proliferator activated receptor β	
ΡΡΑRγ	peroxisomal proliferator activated receptor γ	
PPRE	peroxisome proliferator response element	
PUFA	polyunsaturated FA	
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride	
RXR	retinoid X receptor	
SFA	saturated fatty acid	
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	
SREBP	sterol response element binding protein	
scd1	stearoyl CoA desaturase 1	

t10,c12 CLA	trans-10, cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid
TBST	tris-buffered saline with Tween-20
TIP47	tail-interacting protein of 47 kDa
TG	triglyceride
T2DM	type 2 diabetes mellitus
TZD	thiazolidinedione
UFA	unsaturated fatty acid
VLDL	very low-density lipoprotein
ZDF	Zucker diabetic <i>fa/fa</i>

1. INTRODUCTION

Hepatic steatosis, as defined by accumulation of excess fat in the liver and not caused by alcohol or other known causes of liver disease, is known as non-alcoholic fatty liver disease or NAFLD (146). NAFLD is strongly linked with obesity and other metabolic changes, such as impaired glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and subsequent hyperinsulinemia, hypertension and dyslipidemia which are collectively defined as the metabolic syndrome (MetS) or Syndrome X (183). The prevalence of fatty liver and related metabolic disorders is rising rapidly worldwide.

The most common cause of fatty liver disease in Canada is obesity. In Canada, fatty liver disease is now becoming evident in children, due to an alarming increase in childhood obesity. According to data available from the Canadian Liver Foundation, it is estimated that one in ten Canadian children is overweight (1). Fatty liver disease affects 3% of normal weight children and 22-53% of obese children and can be found in children as young as four years of age. According to current statistics, more than 50% of Canadian adults are overweight. It is estimated that 75% of obese individuals are at risk of developing simple fatty liver or hepatic steatosis and up to 23% of obese individuals are at the risk of developing non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) (1).

NASH represents the more severe end of the spectrum of NAFLD. NASH differs from the simple accumulation of fat in the liver, which is a completely benign condition, as inflammation is present. The prevalence of NASH is 2-6% in the general population. Up to 20% of adults with NASH develop cirrhosis and up to 11% may experience liverrelated deaths. Many individuals develop chronic liver failure and require liver transplantation as the last resort. The first liver transplant in Canada took place in 1970 in Montreal, Quebec (3) and this procedure has saved the lives of hundreds of Canadians in the last several decades. However, in some cases, rejection of the transplanted liver by the body can lead to repeat transplants which can occur anywhere from 24 hours to many years later. Currently, hundreds of Canadians need liver transplants but available organs are limited.

To date, the underlying molecular mechanism(s) for the development of fatty liver is poorly understood. Some of the important parameters associated with the development of fatty liver include triglyceride (TG) synthesis (28), fatty acid (FA) uptake, FA synthesis and TG export in the form of very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) (84). Imbalance in any of these normal lipid metabolism pathways can result in excess lipids in the liver. Other causes of fatty liver disease include starvation and protein malnutrition, long term use of total parenteral nutrition (a feeding procedure that involves infusing nutrients directly into the blood stream), intestinal bypass surgery for obesity and rapid weight loss (2).

A series of comparative rat liver perfusion experiments indicated that free fatty acids (FFAs) are the major source of substrate for the hepatic production of TGs (62). Excess flux of FFA into the liver contributes to liver impairment in NAFLD but the mechanism remains unclear. The main products of lipid synthesis are TGs and, although a certain amount of lipid storage may even be hepatoprotective, prolonged lipid storage can result in an activation of inflammatory reactions and loss of metabolic competency. Recently, it was discovered that cytoplasmic lipid droplets (LDs) are dynamic organelles participating in several important metabolic reactions as well as trafficking and interorganellar communication to distribute neutral lipids and phospholipids to various membrane-bound organelles within the cell (70, 255). However, few studies have highlighted the role of FAs on LD-associated proteins in fatty liver.

It is noteworthy to mention that exogenously supplied FAs are activated *via* acyl Co-A synthetase (ACS) to their FA acyl-CoAs to be channeled either toward lipid synthesis and storage or toward oxidation pathways. The products of ACS activity, namely, FA acyl-CoAs, can then be metabolized to form TG, phospholipids and cholesteryl esters. Muoio et al. (136) reported that triacsin C, a selective inhibitor of ACS, inhibited TG synthesis in hepatocytes from fed rats by 70% and in starved rats by 40%. Triacsin C also inhibited the synthesis of cholesteryl ester and TG in mouse peritoneal macrophages, leading to a reduction of LD formation (141).

Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) shares a very similar backbone to oleic acid (both are 18-carbon FAs) and, therefore, it is absorbed and incorporated into lipids in a manner similar to oleic acid (12). CLA isomers have been shown to be incorporated into membrane phospholipids and alter FA homeostasis (12, 14-15, 73, 94, 195). Several studies have implicated CLA in reducing both arachidonate accumulation in phospholipids and eicosanoid production, and have suggested that the physiological effects of CLA may in part be due to competition with linoleate as substrate for $\Delta 6$ desaturation, the rate-limiting step for arachidonate formation from linoleate (14-15, 23).

CLA isomers are potent ligands of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR)- α and increase the expression of many PPAR α target genes (134, 232). In

contrast, a study conducted by Peters et al. (170) in PPAR α null mice showed that genes coding liver FA oxidation and FA binding were affected by CLA, thus indicating that CLA can also operate *via* a PPAR α independent mode of action. In addition to its ligandinduced activation, transcriptional activity of PPAR α is regulated by phosphorylation mainly *via* extracellular signal regulated kinase (ERK)-mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) (49, 208). However, the isomer-specific effects of the CLA isomers [*cis*-9,*trans*-11 (c9,t11), *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12)] on PPAR α phosphorylation remain unexplored in the *fa/fa* Zucker rat.

There is evidence that a CLA mixture markedly alleviated hepatomegaly and hepatic TG accumulation (139, 150) with improved liver function [lower serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and alkaline phosphatase] after 8 weeks in fa/fa Zucker rats. A recent study from our lab has shown that the anti-steatotic effects of the t10,c12 CLA isomer in obese fa/fa Zucker rats were associated with a significant decrease in hepatic adipophilin level, and reduced LD size in the liver (204).

Currently, there is no medication proven to effectively treat fatty liver disease. This societal burden of steatosis warrants the need for enhanced understanding of cellular mechanisms relevant to the progression of fatty liver and has raised a lot of interest in the scientific community. Therefore, the development of efficacious therapeutic interventions to reverse or attenuate development of this disease is of primary concern. The focus of this thesis is to study the role of CLA isomers as a therapeutic treatment for fatty liver or hepatic steatosis and delineate potential mechanisms focusing on two key players of hepatic lipid metabolism, namely, ACS and PPARα.

4

1.1 Study Rationale

In the pathogenesis of NAFLD, accumulation of lipids in hepatocytes and reduced hepatocyte viability are strongly implicated in disease progression from the potentially reversible condition of steatosis to severe acute and chronic liver injury (184). To date, the triggers of fatty liver and the molecular mechanisms by which it relates to FA metabolism and signaling molecules are incompletely understood. Hepatic lipid overloading mainly in the form of TGs is considered a prerequisite for the development of NAFLD (113, 169). Previous evidence from our lab has shown that the t10,c12 CLA isomer reduced liver lipid content and inflammation, and improved liver function (150, 205). However, CLA isomers induced LD formation in H4IIE rat hepatoma cells (205). Currently, mechanisms by which CLA isomers affect LD formation remain unclear.

A recent study provided evidence that steatosis is associated with ACS5 upregulation in primary human hepatocellular carcinoma (HepG2) cells and human steatotic liver (184). Another important group of molecular targets for the treatment of fatty liver and fatty liver associated metabolic abnormalities is PPAR α , primarily due to its regulation of genes involved in FA oxidation (97, 170). Transcriptional activity of PPAR α is regulated by phosphorylation *via* the MAPK pathway (49, 208), but the effects of CLA isomers on PPAR α phosphorylation remain unexplored in the *fa/fa* Zucker rats. The cytotoxicity of CLA isomers, particulary the t10,c12 isomer, has been previously reported for rat hepatomas, however, no direct link to LD formation was shown (247). Use of rat H4IIE hepatoma cells can thus be a valuable tool in elucidating a mechanism for the direct effects of CLA isomers on hepatic LD formation and hepatocyte viability.

1.2 Statement of Hypotheses

- CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) induce LD formation *via* ACS which is prevented by triacsin C or Wy14643.
- Increased LD formation by CLA isomers reduces H4IIE rat hepatoma viability.
- 3. The anti-steatotic effect of t10,c12 CLA isomer in obese fa/fa Zucker rats is associated with increased PPAR α phosphorylation *via* the MAPK signal transduction pathway.

1.3 Aims of the Study

Aim 1: To study the dose response of CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) and linoleic acid (LA) on lipid accumulation and H4IIE rat hepatoma viability.

Aim 2: To study the effect of the ACS inhibitor, triacsin C, on lipid accumulation in response to CLA treatment in H4IIE cells.

Aim 3: To determine the effect of Wy14643, a potent PPAR α agonist, on H4IIE viability in response to treatment with CLA isomers or LA.

Aim 4: To determine the effects of 8 week dietary supplementation with CLA isomers on the expression and phosphorylation of PPAR α in the livers of male fa/fa Zucker rats.

1.4 Anticipated Significance

This will be the first study to investigate the isomer-specific effects of CLA on cell viability relative to LD formation in quiescent H4IIE hepatoma cells. This study will also focus on the mechanism of LD formation and highlight the potential roles of ACS and PPAR α . This will also be the first study to assess the isomer-specific effects of dietary CLA on the phosphorylation of PPAR α in the livers of obese and insulin resistant *fa/fa* Zucker rats. Therefore, results from these studies will help to determine the importance of PPAR α and ACS in fatty liver and/or LD formation and subsequent effects on hepatocyte viability as a direct or indirect effect of CLA isomers.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD)

Steatosis is the process of abnormal retention of lipids mainly in the form of TGs within a cell. The risk factors associated with steatosis are varied, and include diabetes mellitus (10), hypertension (22) and obesity (192) which collectively constitutes a condition known as the metabolic syndrome (MetS) or Syndrome X (183).

In the absence of alcohol consumption or any other known causes of liver disease (hepatitis B or C, toxic or autoimmune liver disease, hemochromatosis, Wilson's disease, hypobetalipoproteinemia), hepatic steatosis, as defined by accumulation of excess fat in the liver (>5-10% fat as determined by histology), is known as NAFLD (146). The Dallas Heart Study reported that liver fat of 5.6% (55.6 mg of TG/g of liver tissue) is the upper limit of normal in healthy non-obese subjects (n=345) in the absence of excessive alcohol consumption, liver disease or diabetes and with normal serum ALT levels (206)

2.1.1 Prevalence and Significance

The incidence of NAFLD and obesity are closely linked. In one study, about 75% of obese subjects were estimated to have NAFLD while 20% developed NASH, which is defined as fatty liver disease with inflammation (56). The overall morbidity risk of an individual is increased by excess accumulation of fat in adipose tissue, liver and other

organs due to increased predisposition of the individual to the development of metabolic abnormalities.

Considerable variation is observed for the estimation of NAFLD prevalence depending on the methods and population studied (32). However, it is the most common cause of increased serum aminotransferase activities, markers for liver injury (33). In the population-based Dallas Heart Study, about 30-35% subjects (Caucasian, African American and Hispanic) had hepatic steatosis when liver fat was measured by ¹Hmagnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) (206). Obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) further increased the prevalence of NAFLD (9). Interestingly, several studies have shown that NAFLD can be used to predict cardiovascular disease (CVD) and T2DM independent of obesity (102, 212). Histological analysis of liver biopsies from morbidly obese patients undergoing bariatric surgery showed that 86% had steatosis, 24% had NASH, and 2% were cirrhotic (125). Most of the subjects (~79%) with NAFLD have normal ALT, thus suggesting a normal serum ALT activity does not exclude steatosis (24).

Simple steatosis can progress into more serious NASH with mild to moderate fibrosis (38), as characterized by lobular inflammation and hepatocellular ballooning in addition to steatosis. A biopsy may be required for diagnosis of NASH (8). Over a period of 15 years, ~5-15% of these individuals can develop severe fibrosis, of which up to ~10% will develop cirrhosis and thus have a greater risk of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (9).

2.1.2 Sources and Composition of Intrahepatic Triglyceride (TG)

Excess fat is primarily stored in adipose tissue in the form of TGs since the adipocytes are specifically designed to store energy. Obesity is associated with excess deposition of fat in the liver and is considered a major risk factor for the development of fatty liver diseases. Lipid peroxidation, cytokines and other pro-inflammatory compounds have also been implicated in steatosis and its progression to steatohepatitis (56).

Frayn et. al (58) showed that the hepatic uptake of FFAs and secretion of lipids in the form of VLDL depends on the nutritional state. In the fasting as well as in postprandial state, *de novo* hepatic lipogenesis contributes very little to the intrahepatocellular TG in normal subjects (13). The major source of intra-hepatocellular TG during fasting is FA delivered to the liver in the form of VLDL-remnants and FFA from intravascular lipolysis in peripheral tissues (51, 69). In the postprandial state, adipose tissue lipolysis contributes the majority (~45%) of FA used for hepatic VLDL synthesis even though it is suppressed by insulin (13). However, excess amounts of both glucose and VLDL are produced by the insulin resistant fatty liver in NAFLD (191) resulting in hyperglycemia and hypertriglyceridemia (6, 197).

A recent study in normal subjects reported the dynamic role of hepatic lipid stores using ¹³C-labeled FA in a lipid mixture (ingested along with normal breakfast) and showed that labeled FA reached peak incorporation in hepatic TG stores after 6 hours when measured with MRS (182). Also, in markedly abdominally obese subjects, splanchnic lipolysis accounts for only about 30% of hepatic FA delivery, and the main source of intrahepatocellular FA appears to originate mainly from the peripheral tissues (148). Obesity is associated with hepatic insulin resistance and liver fat, and several studies have reported variations in liver fat content at any given body mass index (BMI) or waist circumference (101, 250). A recent study in healthy subjects overfed a fast food-based diet for 4 weeks reported ~9% weight gain, ~2-3-fold increase in liver fat content and a 4-5-fold increase in serum ALT activity (93).

Liver fat content is elevated with increased intake of fat, particularly saturated fat (174, 218), and decreased with weight loss (118, 171) with the decrease in hepatic TG being relatively faster and greater compared to other sites in the body (218). A recent study on the FA composition of intrahepatocellular TG reported increased amounts of saturated FA (SFA) and decreased amounts of unsaturated FA (UFA) in fatty livers (100). Interestingly, the main products of lipid synthesis are TGs and the FA residues in TGs are primarily composed of UFAs (178).

Recent studies have shown that fats are not the sole players in fatty liver development. Excess consumption of carbohydrates has also been found to be associated with insulin resistance, hypertriglyceridemia and increased *de novo* lipogenesis in humans (55, 77). Consumption of carbohydrates, such as fructose, stimulates hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis more than glucose in normal subjects (163). These data show that increased consumption of refined sugars, such as fructose, could play a major role in the development of fatty liver and associated MetS.

In addition to the acquired causes of NAFLD, genetic factors have also been recently suggested to contribute to NAFLD based on results from family studies (238) and studies comparing different ethnic groups (24, 172).

2.1.3 Key Players in NAFLD

Disturbances in lipid metabolism are one of the major causes of NAFLD. The adipocytes are specifically designed to store energy and accommodate excess fat as TGs in the form of large or small LDs. ACS catalyzes the activation of FAs to acyl-CoA esters, which are metabolised either toward lipid synthesis and storage (mainly as TGs) or toward oxidation pathways (131). PPARs constitute a subset of nuclear receptors that function as intracellular sensors for cholesterol metabolites, FFAs, and a range of other lipophilic molecules (66). PPARs are ligand-activated transcription factors that subsequently bind to regulatory regions in target genes, thereby modulating their expression (20, 227). PPARs have been related with the occurrence or progression of NASH (210). These receptors are attractive therapeutic targets for the treatment of disorders of lipid metabolism (20, 66).

i. Role of Lipid Droplet (LD) Formation in NAFLD

Cytoplasmic LDs were considered to be inert organelles which store neutral lipids in the form of TGs for use as an energy source. However, through proteomic studies, it is now known that LDs are metabolically active structures that play major roles in lipid transport, sorting, and signaling cascades. In particular, LDs maintain a dynamic communication with the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the plasma membrane *via* sphingolipid-enriched domains of the plasma membrane - the lipid rafts. These microdomains frequently harbor receptor tyrosine kinases and other signaling molecules and connect extracellular events with intracellular signaling cascades (70, 255). Steatosis may occur in conjunction with other metabolic abnormalities such as insulin resistance in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. The pathogenic mechanisms involved in HCV-induced hepatic steatosis are mediated by the HCV core protein, whose expression is associated with LD accumulation, changes in lipogenic gene expression and/or the activity of lipogenic proteins, and effects on mitochondrial oxidative function (144). The importance of genes such as PPAR α (discussed in section 2.1.3-iii) in HCV-mediated steatosis has been elucidated in mice (144).

Although many studies have shed light on the genetics, physiology and the cellular mechanisms of fat accumulation, further understanding of LD biology could indicate potential therapeutic targets to prevent or reduce the accumulation of LDs and alleviate disease conditions such as fatty liver diseases.

Biogenesis of the LD

LD biogenesis was originally thought to occur *via* accumulation of neutral lipids within the ER membrane bilayer. Eventually, the LD matured by budding, resulting in a lipid core that was enclosed by a protein-containing phospholipid monolayer. However, a recent study by Robenek et al. (187) contradicted this notion by employing freezefracture replica immunogold labelling (FRIL), an electron microscopic technique, and demonstrating that LDs appear to develop externally on ER membranes at specialized sites where the lipid gets enwrapped by the ER, ultimately ending up in a phospholipid monolayer membrane. The facing leaflets of the ER membrane and droplet surface are enriched in adipophilin. This group also demonstrated that the perilipin/ADRP/TIP47 (PAT) family proteins (discussed in the following section) are not only located at the surface of the LD but can occur throughout the LD core and are also present in the plasma membrane.

Structure and LD-associated proteins (PAT proteins)

In non-adipocytes, LDs are small, mobile and interact with other cellular organelles, such as the mitochondria and the peroxisomes (255). In contrast, adipocytes primarily contain very large and immotile LDs, suggesting that the morphological differences between LDs in adipocytes and non-adipocytes must be due to different interactions of LDs with other organelles in different cell types. Murphy et al. (138) have highlighted the complexity of LD interactions, which can be both homotypic (LD-LD) and heterotypic (LD-other organelles) in both adipocytes and non-adipocytes. Digel et al. (47) reported the heterogeneity of LDs within a single cell with a focus on microscopy, especially live cell imaging. LDs are also heterogeneous in size, location and protein content. The proteins that coat LDs change during LD biogenesis and are dependent upon the cell's metabolic state (52).

The PAT family proteins are involved in the accretion and mobilization of lipids (216). In mammals, five members of the PAT protein family have been identified, and these include perilipin, ADRP or adipophilin, tail-interacting protein of 47 kDa (TIP47), S3-12 and OXPAT/myocardial LD protein/lipid-storage droplet protein 5 (18, 52, 114, 167, 241). All PAT proteins bind intracellular LDs, either constitutively or in response to metabolic stimuli, such as increased lipid flux into or out of LDs. PAT proteins are structurally related and regulate the access of lipases to the lipid esters present in the LD core (114). Lipolysis in adipocytes is stimulated by the translocation of hormone-sensitive lipase (HSL) from the cytosol to the surface of the intracellular LD, which is

coated with perilipin (115). PAT proteins are important in the regulation of cellular lipid metabolism both in mammals and in model organisms (18).

When energy is required, the stored TGs in LDs are hydrolyzed *via* activation of lipolytic pathways that govern the release of stored FAs from the adipocyte TG pool which constitutes the major energy reserve in animals. The released FAs are then transported by serum albumin to various tissues to provide energy.

Very little is understood about how mammals package fat within cells. PAT proteins play important roles in packaging fat into LDs and regulate the coordination of lipid storage and utilization. The two major PAT proteins (perilipin and adipophilin) constitutively associate with LDs and play important roles in sustained fat storage and regulation of lipolysis (241). However, during rapid fat storage, nascent LDs are coated with other PAT family proteins such as TIP47, S3-12 and OXPAT/MLDP/PAT-1 (241).

FA pathways in the liver

FAs in the liver can enter a catabolic or a biosynthetic pathway by being directed for oxidation, TG storage, phospholipid synthesis, ketone body formation, or they can be secreted from the liver in the form of VLDL. Under hyperinsulinemic and normoglycemic conditions, insulin decreases apolipoprotein B (apoB)-100 and VLDL-TG production in normal subjects (90, 121) by direct suppression of apoB-100 synthesis and VLDL assembly. In addition, insulin also suppresses the hepatic uptake of FFA *via* its antilipolytic effect (68, 78, 112).

ii. Acyl-CoA synthetase (ACS)

Enhanced lipogenesis appears as a major abnormality of hepatic fatty metabolism in subjects with NAFLD. Thus, decreasing hepatic lipogenesis may help to reduce hepatic TG synthesis and content in such patients (50).

ACSs activate FAs for intracellular metabolism and are involved in the regulation of FA uptake. The intracellular utilization of long chain FAs may be subdivided into three steps:

- a. uptake across the plasma membrane
- b. activation by esterification with coenzyme A, and
- c. subsequent metabolism.

ACS enzymes are essential for *de novo* lipid synthesis, FA catabolism and membrane remodeling. The length of the carbon chain of the FA species defines the substrate specificity for the five different ACS enzymes (which were characterized on this basis). Mammalian ACSs activate FAs with usual chain lengths of 12 to 20 carbon atoms.

The ACS isoforms differ in their subcellular location. Using non-cross-reacting ACS1, ACS4, and ACS5 peptide antibodies, Lewin et al. (111) showed that ACS4 was the only ACS isoform present in peroxisomes and in mitochondria-associated membrane fractions isolated from livers of gemfibrozil-treated rats and associated with TG synthesis. ACS1 was present in ER fractions and ACS5 was present in mitochondrial fractions.

A recent study provided evidence that hepatocyte steatosis is associated with ACS5 up-regulation in primary human hepatocytes, HepG2 cells and human steatotic

liver and the authors proposed that ACS5 could play an important role in fatty liverrelated disorders (184). The predominant pathways for FAs include their storage, membrane biosynthesis or conversion to energy. ACS is essential for both oxidation and esterification of FAs. However, the molecular mechanism of FA activation and subsequent channeling toward one particular metabolic pathway is not well understood.

Vanden Heuvel et al. (225) showed that ACS activity was reduced significantly by perfluorodecanoic acid (PFDA), a potent peroxisome proliferator, in rat liver mitochondria and microsomes. The inhibition of ACS by PFDA was similar in liver mitochondria and microsome preparations. PPAR α activators such as fibrates have been reported to induce ACS mRNA levels in liver or in adipose tissue which was associated with a concomitant increase in FA uptake (127). These data suggest that the hypolipidemic effect of peroxisome proliferators may be potentially mediated by the ACS enzyme resulting in increased FA oxidation and reduced TGs.

iii. Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptors (PPARs)

PPARs belong to the nuclear receptor superfamily and have been identified in a wide range of species, and include numerous cellular receptors for nutrients and steroids (224). PPARs are activated by a variety of ligands that regulate the transcription of genes involved in a number of biological processes, including lipid and glucose metabolism, and overall energy homeostasis (26-27, 57, 224). Some of the endogenous ligands of PPARs are FAs and eicosanoids (36, 67). PPAR agonists have been widely used for the treatment of dyslipidemia (fibrates) and insulin resistance (thiazolidinedione or TZDs)
(57). Therefore, PPARs serve as an important group of molecular targets for the treatment of fatty liver and fatty liver associated metabolic abnormalities.

PPARs play an important role in the regulation of energy metabolism (124) and share a common molecular structure and mechanism of action (46). Following their activation by specific ligands, PPARs heterodimerize with the nuclear receptor retinoid X receptor (RXR) and subsequently bind to specific DNA response elements called peroxisome proliferator response elements (PPRE) located in the promoter or in intronic regions of PPAR target genes (75, 79, 124, 142). Upon ligand binding to PPARs, coactivators are recruited and co-repressors are dissociated. This leads to chromatin remodeling which permits the initiation of gene transcription (20, 203).

The three PPAR isoforms identified so far include PPAR α , PPAR β/δ and PPAR γ (46, 248). Each PPAR isoform governs the expression of specific target genes in a tissue-specific manner that ultimately displays ligand specificity.

PPARa

PPAR α is highly expressed in metabolically active tissues including liver, muscle and brown adipose tissue. In the liver, PPAR α plays a pivotal role in numerous processes including gluconeogenesis and lipid metabolism (124). PPAR α is an important regulator of hepatic nutrient metabolism including FA oxidation (peroxisomal and mitochondrial), FA uptake, amino acid metabolism, glycerol metabolism, and lipoprotein assembly and transport (96, 124, 165). An anti-obesity role for PPAR α is well supported by several studies in rodents administered synthetic PPAR α agonists (71, 123, 226).

PPAR α mediates the effects of hypolipidemic fibrate drugs, which decrease plasma TGs and increase plasma HDL concentrations (59-60). PPAR α activation up-

regulates genes involved in FA oxidation pathways and increases hepatic uptake and esterification of FFAs (59). Murakami et al. (137) indicated a protective effect of PPAR α agonism against abnormal lipid metabolism in the liver of obese Zucker *fa/fa* rats. Thus PPAR α is a key regulator of lipid homeostasis in hepatocytes and is a target for not only the hypolipidemic drugs but also FAs (240).

PPAR α can exist in a phosphorylated form, and its phosphorylation is increased by ciprofibrate in Fao cells (106). However, relatively little is known about the specific signaling pathways through which it operates. In addition to its ligand-induced activation, PPAR α is regulated by ubiquitination (176) and phosphorylation *via* ERK-MAPK, protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase C (PKC) (49).

Diradourian et al. (49) showed that anisomycin, a p38 activator, induced a dosedependent phosphorylation of PPAR α and a 50% inhibition of its transcriptional activity in COS-7 cells. Anisomycin-induced p38 phosphorylation decreased both endogenous and PPAR α ligand-enhanced hepatic carnitine-palmitoyl transferase I (CPTI) and acyl CoA oxidase (ACOX) gene expression in H4IIE hepatoma cells (49). Paumelle et al. (168) reported that simvastatin inhibited PKC α inactivation of PPAR α transrepression activity by inhibition of PPAR α phosphorylation. However, dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) regulates PPAR α action by inducing PPAR α mRNA and protein levels as well as increasing PPAR α transcriptional activity through decreased receptor phosphorylation at serines in the activating factor (AF) 1 region (208). They demonstrated that the serines at positions 12 and 21 were rapidly dephosphorylated upon treatment of HepG2 with DHEA and nafenopin. Mutation of serines at position 6, 12, and 21 to an uncharged alanine residue significantly increased transcriptional activity, whereas mutation to negatively charged aspartate residues (representing phosphorylation) reduced it.

PPARβ/δ

While PPAR α and PPAR γ have been extensively studied over many years, much less is known about the function of the PPAR β/δ isotype. Studies with genetically modified PPAR β/δ mice have illustrated the importance of this nuclear receptor in white adipose tissue and skeletal muscle, two organs that have a key role in glucose homeostasis (134, 211, 230-231). It was shown that activation of PPAR β/δ in adipose tissue protects against adiposity and hyperlipidemia by inducing FA catabolism (231).

PPAR β/δ is expressed ubiquitiously and has been implicated in a variety of cellular processes ranging from regulation of FA oxidation and inflammation to wound healing in skin (117). However, within the liver, PPAR β/δ has been found to be differentially expressed in different cell types with the highest levels reportedly found in hepatic endothelial cells (81).

PPARγ

PPAR γ serves as the molecular target for an important class of anti-diabetic drugs, the TZDs, and is activated by polyunsaturated FAs (PUFAs) and FA-derived molecules. PPAR γ expression is highest in adipose tissues where it plays an important role in the process of cell differentiation and acquisition of the adipocyte phenotype (103, 189). Most of the target genes of PPAR γ are involved in adipogenesis and lipogenesis, including FA binding protein 4, glucose transporter (GLUT)-4, glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, lipoprotein lipase (LPL) and glycerol kinase (109). PPAR γ activation by TZDs effectively lowers plasma glucose levels by promoting insulin responsiveness in tissues, thereby stimulating glucose uptake. In rodents, TZDs also reduce plasma FFA concentrations (152, 209).

Several studies have shown that the expression of lipogenic and adipogenic genes such as sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP), ADRP and PPAR γ are strongly up-regulated in steatotic livers (133, 194). High fat diets up-regulated PPAR γ in the hepatic tissue of PPAR $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice and increased the expression of adipocyte markers, which may be a contributing factor to the development of fatty liver (166).

2.2 Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA)

2.2.1 Source and Synthesis

CLA consists of several conjugated and stereoisomeric variations of LA (*cis*, *cis*- Δ 9,12-octadecadienic acid) with a unique spatial structure and distinct biological functions. The c9,t11 and t10,c12 isomers are the most well-studied CLA isomers because of their unique physiological effects (157).

Source

CLA can be found naturally in ruminant products, such as milk, cheese and beef (72, 164, 196), and exists predominantly (80-90%) as c9,t11 isomer, which is also known as rumenic acid (119, 129, 164).

Some of the dietary supplements contain a 50:50 mixture of the c9,t11- and t10,c12-CLA isomers and are now readily available in the market (105). However, specific benefits for humans appear to be relatively small and conflicting. Therefore, further investigations are still required to confirm the presence or absence of any detrimental effects in humans.

Synthesis

Kay et al. (92) have shown that the endogenous synthesis is responsible for more than 91% of the c9,t11-CLA isomer found in milk fat of cows fed fresh pasture. In ruminants, CLA is either absorbed or further metabolized to vaccenic acid (*trans*-11octadecenoic acid) (95) in the gut, which can be again converted by the enzyme Δ 9 desaturase back to the c9,t11-CLA isoform (157, 175).

CLA can also be chemically synthesized by several methods (21, 44-45). CLA food supplements are currently synthesized by alkaline isomerization of LA enriched vegetable oils such as safflower and sunflower oil and are mostly available in a 1:1 ratio of c9,t11- and t10,c12-CLA isomeric mixture (129, 214).

2.2.2 Physiological Effects

A mixture of CLA isomers was shown to prevent cancer in an experiment with fried ground beef conducted in mice that were chemically treated to induce epidermal neoplasia (72). This initial discovery of the anti-carcinogenic property of the isomeric mixtures of CLA ignited a considerable amount of research (4, 157).

Several experiments have reported that CLA isomers or mixtures have beneficial effects against obesity, diabetes, insulin resistance, hepatic steatosis, atherosclerosis and cancer *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Variations on some of these effects have also been reported between species, and also between the c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers with the t10,c12 CLA isomer apparently responsible for changes in body composition and adipocyte morphology (34, 39, 54, 76, 157, 162).

A brief synopsis of some of the physiological effects of CLA is provided below with a specific focus on NAFLD.

i. Obesity and Insulin-Resistance

Park et al. (161) first observed the delipidative effects of a CLA mixture in the ICR line of mice where a CLA-supplemented diet (5.0% corn oil plus 0.5% CLA) produced about a 60% decrease in body fat after four to five weeks of feeding. Several studies have reported the body fat lowering effect of the t10,c12 CLA isomer in several species, including mice, rats, chickens, pigs and humans (82, 158). Dietary CLA mixtures have been reported to reduce adiposity in Sprague-Dawley and Zucker rats (11, 200, 247). However, the opposite effect was observed in obese Zucker rats fed 0.5% dietary CLA (200). Several studies in swine have reported that CLA mixtures decreased fat deposition and increased lean tissue (155-156, 215, 237). The t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly reduced adipose tissue mass but did not significantly increase fat accumulation in liver or muscle, potentially confirming observations in earlier experiments that CLA increases energy expenditure in mice (43, 91, 235-236).

The *fa/fa* Zucker rat has a mutation in the leptin receptor and is considered a model for the metabolic syndrome since it is morbidly obese as well as insulin resistant. Noto et al. (149) observed an improvement in oral glucose tolerance and higher adipose GLUT-4 mRNA levels when 6 week old *fa/fa* Zucker rats were fed a 50:50 mixture of CLA for 8 weeks, but there was no decrease in body weight. Studies involving this animal model have shown the isomer-specific effects of CLA with the t10,c12 CLA isomer being responsible for inducing weight loss, improving muscle glucose transport

and decreasing fasting glucose and insulin levels (80). However, no changes in body weight, adiposity, muscle glucose or insulin levels were observed with the c9,t11 CLA isomer (80). Noto et al. (151) observed significantly larger adipocytes in the fa/fa control rats than those fed the t10,c12 CLA isomer suggesting an improvement in adipocyte function or an improved ability to mobilize stored lipids.

The effect of CLA on body composition changes in humans remains unclear. Most of the research in humans has shown that CLA isomers do not have a significant effect on body weight (105, 122, 214). A CLA mixture reduced body fat mass but had no effect on BMI in a randomized double-blind trial using 60 overweight or obese people (19). The same study also reported that no additional effect on body fat mass is achieved with doses > 3.4 g CLA per day. Similar effects were observed in other human trials (186, 202, 217).

Krieder et al. (104) evaluated the effects of supplementation with a CLA mixture on body composition in 24 resistance trained males for 28 days. No significant differences were reported in this short term study, although trends for improved strength and performance were reported for the CLA group. Interestingly, the loss of body fat induced by CLA mixture is 40-50% greater in mice fed diets containing 0.5-1% CLA as compared to that observed in humans (214). These differences may be attributed to the duration, dose of CLA, and age of species. Generally, studies in mice are conducted with a much higher dose than humans, and mostly involve growing animals. Further investigation in humans with higher dose and longer duration will be needed to understand the role of CLA in humans (143).

ii. Diabetes

A CLA mixture was shown to improve hyperinsulinemia and normalize glucose tolerance in Zucker diabetic fa/fa (ZDF) rats (83), a finding that was later confirmed by Ryder et al. (190) who reported improved insulin-stimulated glucose tolerance and glycogen synthase activity in the soleus muscle of ZDF rats. They also showed that these effects were predominantly exerted by the t10,c12 CLA isomer (190). Several studies have also confirmed these results in fa/fa Zucker rats and suggested that the t10,c12 CLA isomer exerts its anti-diabetogenic effects through a reduction in oxidative stress and muscle lipid levels (80, 213).

Nagao et al. (140) showed that severe hyperinsulinemia in ZDF rats was attenuated with a CLA mixture and that this response was associated with an enhanced level of plasma adiponectin and improved insulin sensitivity. In contrast, several studies have shown that t10,c12 CLA supplementation leads to insulin resistance in mice (34, 42, 188, 223) and humans (185-186), which may be attributed to a decrease in plasma leptin levels (230) or an increase in TG levels in the muscle (214). These results show opposite effects of CLA in mice and humans compared to rats, thereby emphasizing the importance of species-specific differences associated with the supplementation of CLA in diabetes.

iii. Atherosclerosis

Lee et al. (107) found that a CLA mixture (0.5 g CLA/rabbit per day) had antiatherosclerotic effects in rabbits based on a decrease in total and LDL cholesterol and TGs, as well as decreased atherosclerotic plaque in the aorta. Similar results were reported in hamsters with diet-induced hypercholesterolemia where a CLA mixture reduced total plasma cholesterol (147, 239). However, one study in hamsters fed a diet supplemented with either both isomers (c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA) or pure c9,t11 CLA found a reduction in plasma lipids with the mixed isomers only (65). In contrast, a dietary CLA mixture was reported to increase aortic fatty streak formation in C57BL/6mice (135).

In humans, no differences were observed in platelet aggregation, thrombosis, plasma cholesterol, LDLs or TGs with a CLA mixture intervention (16-17). Interestingly, a study showed that both the CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) have an effect on human platelet aggregation and suggested that CLA isomers have anti-thrombotic properties (221). Subsequently, Toomey et al. (220) showed that a dietary CLA mixture prevented the development of lesions and caused their regression in apolipoprotein E (apoE) null mice with pre-established atherosclerotic lesions.

iv. Cancer

Ha et al. (72) have contributed immensely on the anti-carcinogenic effects of isomeric mixtures of CLA with their experiments in a mouse model treated with 7,12dimethylbenz[α]anthracene to induce epidermal neoplasia. They also showed that CLA mixtures inhibited mutagenesis in bacteria. The group later reported that CLA mixtures had antioxidant properties and inhibited tumorigenesis in the forestomach of mice (73).

The c9,t11-CLA isomer was predominantly involved in the anti-carcinogenic effect, since it was the only isomer present in liver and mammary tumor extracts (87). Several studies have indicated that CLA may exert its anti-carcinogenic effects by

regulating the cell cycle (25, 88, 120) and apoptotic pathway (89, 153-154, 159-160). In contrast, some experiments did not observe any anti-carcinogenic effect (173, 242). As such, the use of CLA in cancer therapy should be further investigated.

v. NAFLD

CLA supplementation produces markedly different responses in the liver of rats and mice. In mice, the t10,c12-CLA isomer predominantly exerts steatotic effects and increases the mass of the liver up to four times (15, 34, 40, 94, 223). A study in mice attributed this to an increase in liver TG, cholesterol, cholesterol esters and FFAs (94). In contrast, CLA mixtures have been shown to decrease hepatic TG accumulation in the ZDF rat (234), Zucker *fa/fa* rat (139, 150) and Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rat (181) models. The t10,c12 CLA isomer has been shown to decrease liver TG in OLETF rats (229) and *fa/fa* Zucker rats (205). This effect was not observed with the c9,t11 CLA isomer (195).

2.2.3 Potential Mechanisms by which CLA affects NAFLD

To date, the triggers of fatty liver or hepatic steatosis and the mechanisms by which it relates to excessive lipid accumulation the liver are incompletely understood. The molecular mechanism underlying the development of steatosis and progression to steatohepatitis has not been delineated. Likewise, the factors underlying the effect of CLA isomers on NAFLD are unclear.

LD Formation

Recently, LDs have emerged as important intracellular organelles in lipid homeostasis and are important for FA and sterol biosynthesis, FA activation and lipolysis and contribute to the pathophysiology of metabolic diseases, particularly in fatty livers. (61).

A few recent studies have highlighted the role of LD-associated proteins in fatty liver using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models (74, 169, 205). Chung et al. (31) showed that LDassociated proteins play an important role in adipocyte TG metabolism and demonstrated that the t10,c12 CLA-mediated reduction of human adipocyte TG content is associated with the differential localization and expression of ADRP and perilipin A protein.

When energy is required, the stored TGs in LDs are hydrolyzed *via* activation of lipolytic pathways that govern the release of stored FAs from the adipocyte TG pool which constitutes the major energy reserve in animals. The released FAs are then transported by serum albumin to various tissues to provide energy.

A CLA mixture markedly alleviated hepatomegaly and hepatic TG accumulation (139, 150) with improved liver function (lower serum ALT and alkaline phosphatase) and favorable modification of the serum lipoprotein profile (reduced VLDL and LDL and elevated HDL) after 8 weeks in *fa/fa* Zucker rats. Liver FA binding protein (L-FABP) and ACOX, markers of FA transport and oxidation, respectively, were expressed at higher levels with the supplementation of 1.5% CLA mixture in *fa/fa* Zucker rats (150).

A recent study from our lab has shown that the anti-steatotic effects of t10,c12 CLA isomer in obese fa/fa Zucker rats were associated with a significant decrease in hepatic adipophilin, but not perilipin levels, and reduced LD size in the liver (205). The

same study (205) also demonstrated that treatment of H4IIE rat hepatoma cells with CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) neither prevented nor reversed, but rather induced cytoplasmic LD formation in these cells. Currently, mechanisms by which CLA isomers affect hepatic steatosis are unclear. CLA may be working either independently or dependently on PPAR α or by regulating other molecules. H4IIE cells can thus be a valuable tool in elucidating a mechanism for the effects of CLA on fatty liver.

Genes involved in FA Synthesis and Oxidation

A CLA mixture was observed to increase both liver FA synthesis and oxidation in rats (15, 134, 170)). These observations were also confirmed at both the gene and protein level in two lines of mice (ICR and C57BL/6J) (207). However, the degree of increase differed between lines for some enzymes involved in these two processes. For FA synthesis, they reported an increase in activity and mRNA levels of acetyl Co-A carboxylase (ACC), FA synthase (FAS), and malic enzyme in CLA-treated mice (207). However, an increase in ACC mRNA, but not FAS, was reported by Tsuboyama-Kasaoka et al. (222-223). For FA oxidation, an increase in the activity of mitochondrial and peroxisomal palmitoyl-CoA oxidation, CPTI, peroxisomal ACOX, 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase, and an increase in mRNA levels of CPTI and II, ACOX and bifunctional enzyme was reported in CLA-treated mice (207). Several studies have also reported an increase in ACOX activity and gene expression and CPTI activity coupled with an increased rate of carnitine-dependent palmitate oxidation was reported in mice supplemented with the t10,c12 CLA isomer. In addition, an increase in

the expression of CPTI in the liver (100%) and muscle (200%) with an almost doubled expression of CPTII was observed (41).

A recent study reported that CLA is metabolized by hepatocytes at a higher rate than LA and that CLA is a poorer substrate for cellular and VLDL-TG synthesis (177). These data suggest that increased FA oxidation with consequent decreased FA availability for TG synthesis is a potential mechanism by which CLA can reduce TG levels in rat liver (177).

ACS

Other investigators have reported that triacsin C, a selective inhibitor of ACS, inhibited TG synthesis by 70% in hepatocytes from fed rats and by 40% in starved rats and suggested greater inhibition of *de novo* TG synthesis than FA reacylation (136). Triacsin C also inhibited the synthesis of cholesteryl ester and TG in mouse peritoneal macrophages, leading to a reduction of LD formation (141). Matsuda et al. (130) demonstrated that triacsin C has anti-atherogenic properties in LDL receptor-knockout (LDLR^{-/-}) mice fed a high cholesterol diet. Incubation with 5 μM triacsin C completely abolished LD formation in anti-Fas-treated apoptotic human HuT 78 cells, with concomitant reversion of TG, CE and phospholipids to control levels (86). Therefore, ACS is an important enzyme in the regulation of TG levels and subsequent LD formation, and represents a potential mechanism by which CLA isomers may affect hepatic lipid metabolism.

PPARa

CLA isomers increase the expression of ACOX, cytochrome P450A1 (CYP4A1: ω -hydroxylation of FAs) and L-FABP, all known target genes of PPAR α (134, 150, 232).

In contrast, a study conducted by Peters et al. (170) in PPAR α null mice showed that genes coding liver FA oxidation and FA binding were affected by CLA, thus indicating a PPAR α independent mode of action by CLA. Isomer-specific effects of CLA were also reported with t10,c12-CLA causing a decrease in PPAR α expression and an increase in ACO (but not CYP4A1), and with c9,t11-CLA causing an increase in PPAR α expression (232).

Since PPAR α is the main PPAR isoform expressed in liver and it has been shown to regulate the expression of genes involved in hepatic oxidation (97, 170), it would be interesting to study the effects of CLA on this transcription factor in the process of LD formation resulting in lipid accumulation.

Desaturase index

The ratio of SFAs and MUFAs is one of the determining factors in understanding disease conditions related to abnormal lipid metabolism such as hepatic steatosis. Several experiments have confirmed a shift in the ratio of SFA:MUFA *in vivo* and *in vitro*, particularly palmitate:palmitoleate (16:0/16:1) and stearate:oleate (18:0/18:1) with t10,c12 CLA supplementation (23, 29, 53-54, 64, 108, 195). These results implicate an important role of scd1, the enzyme that catalyzes the biosynthesis of MUFAs (91, 108). In contrast, a recent study in mice fed a diet supplemented with 0.5 g/100 g of CLA mixture for 4 days found no change on the SFA:MUFA ratio (245), suggesting that the change may be due to downstream, as opposed to direct effects of CLA. Another study demonstrated the scd1 independent delipidative effects of t10,c12-CLA isomer using scd1 null mice, which displayed reduced hepatomegaly with the supplementation of this isomer (91). The t10,c12-CLA isomer was also associated with an increase in 18:1 n-9

and a decrease in 18:2 n-6 which may be attributed to changes in the activity of desaturase enzymes such as scd1 and thereby alterating the FA profiles (94).

2.3 Effects of Lipid Accumulation on Cell Viability

The concentration-dependent accumulation of lipid as well as mitochondrial damage are regarded as two early events for hepatotoxicity (198). Culturing of trophoblasts (isolated from normal term human placentas) in 0.25 mM non-esterified FA (NEFA) for 24 hours up-regulated FA esterification processes, inhibited FA oxidation, inhibited glycerol release (a marker of lipolysis) and promoted ADRP and LD formation, all consistent with the up-regulation of FA storage and buffering capacity. However, there was no effect on cell viability, apoptosis or hormone secretion. HepG2 cells displayed elevated oxidative stress, loss of mitochondrial function and loss of viability when challenged with pro-oxidants such as ethanol or PUFAs such as arachidonic acid (243). Exposure of murine or human hepatocytes to MUFAs resulted in lipid accumulation without changes in cell viability. In contrast, incubating cells with SFAs significantly decreased cell viability and increased caspase activation and apoptosis, with only minor LD accumulation.

To date, one study has determined the dose-dependent cytotoxicty of mixed CLA or CLA isomers in rat hepatic stellate cells (HSC-T6), incubated for 24 hours with 10-180 μ M of t10,c12, c9,t11 or a mixed form (c9,t11:t10,c12; 41%:44%) of CLA (251). The results from this study showed that the c9,t11 CLA isomer exhibited the most intense cytotoxic effect as the survival rate of the HSCs was reduced to 60% with 80 μ M of c9,t11 CLA treatment, while cell survival was only slightly affected by the CLA mixture.

The degree of DNA fragmentation was most severely affected in HSCs treated with 80 μ M of c9,t11 CLA. Other investigators reported that after 48 hours supplementation with 50 μ M t10, c12 CLA isomer or 50 μ M of c9, t11 CLA isomer, mouse mammary tumor cell viability was significantly reduced by 80% and 20%, respectively (98). Although a certain amount of lipid storage may even be hepatoprotective, prolonged excess lipid storage can result in an activation of inflammatory reactions and loss of metabolic competency (7). The cytotoxicity of CLA isomers, the t10,c12 isomer in particular, has been previously reported for rat hepatomas, however, no direct link to LD formation was shown (247).

2.4 Treatment of NAFLD

There is no one treatment available for NAFLD, however, PPARγ agonists (TZDs) have been reported to decrease liver fat content and increase hepatic insulin sensitivity in patients with T2DM. Metformin, which activates AMP-dependent kinase (AMPK), on the other hand, has been reported to only ameliorate hepatic insulin sensitivity but may not change liver fat content (219, 249).

2.5 Summary of Current State of Knowledge

The t10,c12 CLA isomer appears to have an indirect effect on reducing hepatic steatosis in *fa/fa* Zucker rats while both CLA isomers appear to promote LD formation in H4IIE cell cultures. The mechanism for this difference is currently unknown. Some evidence indicates that triacsin C and Wy14643 reduce TG accumulation in lipid loaded

hepatocytes, implicating the importance of ACS and PPAR α in LD formation. CLA may be increasing FA uptake and directing the pool of activated FA acyl CoAs toward a lipid storage pathway *via* the activation of the ACS in H4IIE cells. On the other hand, the effect of CLA isomers on H4IIE viability relative to LD formation remains to be explored.

In addition to its ligand-induced activation, transcriptional activity of PPAR α is regulated by phosphorylation mainly *via* ERK-MAPK (49, 208). However, the isomerspecific effects of the c9,t11 or t10,c12 CLA isomers on PPAR α phosphorylation remain unexplored.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Rat H4IIE Hepatocytes

3.1.1 Cell Culture

Rat H4IIE hepatoma cells (American Type Culture Collection, CRL 1548) were maintained as previously described (252). Cells were grown to 60-70% confluency on a 12-, 24- or a 96-well plate in alpha-Minimum Essential Medium (α -MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Quiescence was achieved by incubation in serumfree media for 72 hours.

3.1.2 Cell Treatments

The inhibitors or activators were typically added 10 minutes prior to the addition of the FAs directly into the cell culture media in order to allow enough time for the activation of specific transcription factors or signal transduction pathways (253-254). The chemicals are listed in Table 1. The optimal concentration of the chemicals was determined following a dose-response and a time-course study for up to 24 hours.

3.1.3 Cell Lysing

The treatments were terminated by aspirating the media from the wells and washing the cells twice with 2 mL of 1× Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Two hundred μ L of 2× sample buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8; 10% SDS; Glycerol) was added to the cells, which were allowed to lyse by incubating at 37 °C for 5 min. The cells and the solubilised material were pipetted into separate

microfuge tubes and sonicated to shear the DNA. The samples were then stored at -80° C for further analysis.

3.1.4 Oil Red O Staining

Lipid accumulation in H4IIE cells was quantified by using Oil Red O staining as previously described (132). Cells were fixed with 10% phosphate-buffered formalin for 1 hour and washed with 60% isopropanol. The cells were allowed to completely dry before staining with Oil Red O for 10 minutes. The Oil Red O stain was then washed under tap water followed by elution of the stain using 100% 2-propanol for 10 minutes.

The optical density (OD) of the eluate was measured at 500 nm using a FLUOstar Omega plate reader and analyzed with Omega Data Analysis Software version 1.00 (BMG Labtech, Durham, NC) in order to quantify the degree of staining and, therefore, the amount of lipid present in the cells.

3.1.5 Cell Viability Assay

Cell viability in H4IIE cells was assessed using the cell counting kit-8 (cck-8) assay that utilizes the tetrazolium salt, WST-8 [2-(2-methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2H-tetrazolium, monosodium salt]. WST-8 is reduced by dehydrogenases in cells to give a yellow-colored product (formazan), which is soluble in the tissue culture medium. The amount of the formazan dye generated by the activity of dehydrogenases in cells is directly proportional to the number of living cells. The cck-8 assay is much more sensitive and has many advantages over the conventional MTT, XTT, MTS or WST-1 assays. It consists of a ready-to-use solution and does not require any organic solvent or isotope. There is also no need for any harvesting, washing or

solubilization step and, therefore, experimental error is greatly reduced.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were seeded in 96-well plates (5,000 cells/well) and grown to 60-70% confluency in α -MEM supplemented with 10% FBS. Quiescence was achieved by incubation in serum-free media for 72 hours.

Required materials

- Ready to use cck-8 solution
- FLUOstar Omega plate reader (450 nm filter)
- 96-well plate
- CO₂ incubator

Cells were treated in triplicate and then incubated for another 24 hours at 37 °C. Ten μ l of the cck-8 solution was added to each well of the plate. After 4 hours of incubation at 37 °C in a CO₂ incubator, absorbance was measured using a FLUOstar Omega plate reader at 450 nm.

3.2 Liver Tissue

Livers from seven-week old male lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed either a control diet (the ln CTL and fa CTL groups, respectively) or a diet containing 0.4% wt/wt *cis-*9, *trans-*11 (fa 9,11 group) or 0.4% wt/wt *trans-*10,*cis-*12 (fa 10,12 group) in free fatty acid (FFA) form for 8 weeks (kindly provided by Danielle Stringer) were excised, rinsed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) pH 7.4, weighed, and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before being stored at -80°C for further studies.

3.2.1 Protein Extraction from the Hepatic Tissue of Zucker Rats

For the quantification of proteins present in the hepatic tissue of the Zucker rats, livers were homogenised in a detergent-containing solution in order to release the various proteins. The homogenate was then centrifuged to remove insoluble materials and make the proteins available for analysis by immunoblotting.

Required reagents

- 3× Sample Buffer: 3% SDS, 30% glycerol, 0.2 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, ddH₂O)
- Liquid nitrogen (N₂)

Hepatic tissue was weighed (40-50 mg) and quickly covered with liquid N_2 in a mortar and allowed to freeze. It was ground into a fine powder with a pestle and $3\times$ sample buffer was added to the powder which was then stirred into a uniform paste and allowed to sit for a minimum of 15 minutes to permit lysis of the cells. The suspension was pipetted into a 1.5 ml microfuge tube and centrifuged (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5804, Hamburg, Germany) at 15,294 g for 5 minutes. After centrifugation, the supernatant was removed and put into another tube and sonicated (Sonic Dismembrator, Model 100, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.) for 15 seconds to shear the DNA, thereby decreasing the viscosity of the sample. The samples were then quantified or stored at -80°C for further analysis.

3.3 Quantification of Protein Samples

Following sonication, protein concentration of the Zucker rat hepatic tissue and the H4IIE cell lysates was determined by using the Bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay (Pierce Rockford, IL) to enable equal protein loading onto the SDS-polyacrylamide gels. The reaction between the BCA reagents and the proteins produces a colored product and the intensity can be measured by spectrometric analysis at 550 nm. The measured intensity is directly proportional to the amount of protein in each sample. The results from each assay are compared to a standard calibration curve and the quantity of protein is calculated.

Required reagents

- Pierce protein assay reagent A (Cat #23223, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL): sodium bicarbonate, BCA and sodium tartrate in 0.2 M sodium hydroxide
- Pierce protein assay reagent B (Cat #23224, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL): cupric sulphate
- Protein standard: 2 mg/mL bovine serum albumin standard (Cat # 23209, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) diluted with 3× sample buffer for tissue samples or with 2× sample buffer for H4IIE cell lysates to produce 6 standards (0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, 1.0 and 2.0 mg/mL)
- 2× sample buffer (0.5 M Tris HCl pH 6.8; 10% SDS; Glycerol (Cat # BP229-1, Fisher))
- 3× Sample Buffer (3% SDS, 30% Glycerol, 0.2 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, ddH₂O)

Ten microlitres of each of the standards and the protein samples were pipetted, in triplicate, into the wells of a 96-well microplate (Cat #167008, Nunclon, Roskilde, Denmark). A ratio of 221 μ L of reagent A to 4 μ L of reagent B was mixed in a volume to allow 200 μ L to be pipetted into each well. The plate was incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes and then read at 550 nm on a microplate reader (Thermomax, Molecular Devices

Corp, Sunnyvale, CA). Softmax Pro Software (Version 2.34, Molecular Devices Corp, Sunnyvale, CA) was used to determine the final protein concentration in each sample.

3.4 Sodium Dodecylsulfate Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-

PAGE)

After quantification of the protein extracts from the liver tissue or the H4IIE cell lysates, SDS-PAGE was used to separate the various proteins according to their molecular mass. Samples were loaded into the wells of the gel and a current was applied. The current draws the denatured and negatively charged proteins though the gel depending on the molecular mass.

Required reagents

- 20% acrylamide
- 10% SDS
- 1.5 M Tris-HCl pH 8.8
- 10% ammonium persulfate
- N, N, N', N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) (Cat # 805615, MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH)
- ddH_2O
- 0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8
- H₂O-saturated butanol
- 10% Bromophenol blue
- 2-mercaptoethanol (Cat # 6010, Omnipur, U.S.A)

• SDS-PAGE electrode buffer: 0.125 M Tris, 0.96 M glycine, 0.5% SDS

One or 1.5 mm spaced glass plates were inserted into a sandwich clamp assembly, placed into a casting stand and the appropriate separating gel percent was poured between the glass plates. Using a pasteur pipette, a small amount of H₂O-saturated butanol was gently added over the top of the separating gel to make the surface of the gel smooth and even. The gel was left to polymerize for approximately 30 min, then the H₂O-saturated butanol was discarded and the gel was rinsed with ddH₂O. The stacking gel was subsequently poured on top of the separating gel. A 10 or 15 well comb was inserted and the gel was left to polymerize for 30 minutes. When the stacking gel had polymerized, the sandwich clamp assembly was transferred to the electrophoresis apparatus and the SDS-PAGE buffer was poured into the middle of the electrophoresis apparatus as well as into the buffer tank.

The concentration of protein determined from the BCA protein assay was used to calculate the appropriate volume of each sample. Each protein sample was mixed 1:1 with a solution of bromophenol blue (to help visualize the dye front) and 2-mercaptoethanol (to denature the proteins). The samples were heated in a 90°C water bath for 5 minutes to further denature the proteins. Protein samples (10-15 μ g) were separated on SDS-polyacrylamide gels. The gel percentage depended on the size of the desired protein with smaller proteins (< 30 kDa) run on a 15% gel, 30-100 kDa proteins run on 7.5% or 10% gels and proteins >100 kDa were run on a 5% gel. The gel was run at 20 mA constant current per gel for 70-90 minutes. To determine the molecular mass, the Bench MarkTM Prestained Protein Ladder (BioRad) was used.

3.5 Gel Transfer

Following SDS-PAGE, the proteins in the gel were electrophoretically transferred to a 6.8 cm ×8 cm polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane.

Required reagents

Transfer Buffer

- 20% methanol, 0.25 mM Tris, 130 mM glycine, ddH₂O
- 5× Tris-buffered saline in Tween-20 (TBST): 0.1 M Tris-HCl pH
 7.4, 0.25% Tween-20
- $1 \times$ TBST: 1 part $5 \times$ TBST and 4 parts ddH₂O
- Methanol (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ)

The glass plates from the SDS-PAGE were removed and the stacking gel was discarded. The PVDF membrane was first equilibrated in the transfer buffer for 5 minutes and then placed on top of the gel while immersed in transfer buffer. The membrane was covered with blotting paper on both sides. Any bubbles were pressed out and the components were placed inside a transfer cassette in the transfer buffer solution. The transfer buffer solution was poured into the tank after addition of an ice pack and a stir bar and placed on a magnetic stirrer on medium speed. Electrode wires were attached to the electrode module and current applied at 100 volts (60 minutes for a 1.0 mm thick gel or 75 minutes for 1.5 mm thick gel). Membranes with the transferred proteins were removed and placed in a container with 1× TBST covering the membrane and stored at 4°C.

3.6 Immunoblotting

Immunoblotting was used to identify the proteins of interest using a method adapted from Gallagher et al (63). This procedure uses an antibody to detect and quantify a single protein after electrophoretic transfer of a protein mixture to a PVDF membrane.

Required reagents

- $1 \times \text{TBST}$
- 3% BSA in TBST (Bovine serum albumin fraction V, Cat #10735080001, Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany)
- 1% BSA in TBST
- Lumigen PS-3 detection reagent (Ref # RPN2132 V1 + V2, Lumigen PS3, GE Health, Piscataway, NJ)
- Primary (1°) antibody
- Horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-linked secondary (2°) antibody

The membranes were agitated on an orbital shaker, blocked with 3% BSA-TBST (bovine serum albumin in Tris-buffer saline with Tween-20) for 1 hour followed by 1 hour incubation with the 1° antibody at room temperature (RT). Subsequently, the 1° antibody was removed and the membrane was washed for a minimum of 20 minutes in $1 \times$ TBST, with the TBST refreshed each time. The membrane was then incubated with HRP-conjugated 2° antibody for 1 hour and the washing step was repeated as previously described for the 1° antibody. All 2° antibodies were used at a dilution of 1:10,000 in PBS containing 1% BSA. The 1° and the 2° antibodies are listed in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively. Afterwards, the membrane was dipped in ECL plus Western blotting detection system (GE Health Care) and the relative intensity was captured by exposing

the membrane to an X-ray film (Kodak Scientific Imaging). The band of interest on the film was later quantified using Quantity One software (version 4.5.0) on a GS-800 Imaging Densitometer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA).

Optimisation of the 1° antibody

One of the most common problems in immunoblotting is determining the correct dilution of the 1° antibody. Therefore, it is imperative to optimise the 1° antibody concentrations which may require contacting the antibody manufacturing companies and/or other researchers who have made use of the antibodies in their publications.

All of the 1° antibodies were used at a 1:1000 dilution in this study. However, the main difference was between the PPAR α and the other antibodies. A much better result was achieved with 2 hours of blocking for all the PPAR α antibodies. In addition, the non-phospho-PPAR α antibody required an overnight incubation while the phospho-PPAR α antibodies gave a good signal with the usual 1 hour incubation.

3.7 Stripping of PVDF Membranes

The PVDF membrane was stripped and washed so that it could be re-probed with a new antibody and/or a loading control.

Required reagents

Stripping buffer

- 10% SDS; 0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8; ddH₂O
- 2-mercaptoethanol
- $1 \times \text{TBST}$
- 10% Bleach

In order to strip the PVDF membrane, it was covered with 25 mL of stripping buffer per membrane and 80 μ L of 2-mercaptoethanol was added for every 10 mL of the stripping buffer. This procedure was carried out in a fume-hood. The container was completely sealed and placed in a larger container which was again sealed in order to reduce the strong smell of the reagents. The container was agitated overnight at RT following which the solution was poured down the sink in the fume hood. The membrane was placed in a new container and covered with 1× TBST and washed by agitation for 5 minutes. This process was repeated until no odour was detected. The old containers were rinsed with 10% bleach and left in the fume hood until the odour dissipated.

3.8 Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using one way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with Statistical Analysis Software (SAS Version 9.1.3, SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.) for Western blot data using a mixed-model analysis with a random intercept for the repetitions and by estimate statements for individual comparisons of treatments versus the control. For all other *in vitro* data, statistical analysis was performed using one way ANOVA with Origin. Significant differences among treatment group means were determined with Tukey's test. Differences were considered statistically significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters, n=3. Data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM).

Table 1. List of Chemicals

Chemical	Functions	Working	Vehicle	Company	Catalog #
		Conc.			
Dexamethasone	synthetic	0.25 μΜ	Water	Sigma	D4902
	glucocorticoid				
Wy14643	PPARα agonist	250 µM	DMSO	Tokyo	FII02
				Kasei	
				Kogyo	
Triacsin C	ACS Inhibitor	4 µM	DMSO	Biomol	EI218
				International	
c9,t11 CLA	cis-9,trans-11	60 µM	Ethanol	Cayman	90140
	CLA isomer			Chemical	
				Co.	
t10,c12 CLA	trans-10,cis-12	60 µM	Ethanol	Cayman	90145
	CLA isomer			Chemical	
				Co.	
Linoleic acid	PPARα agonist	60 µM	Ethanol	Cayman	90150
				Chemical	
				Co.	

Table 2. List of Primary Antibodies

Primary Antibody	Size (kDa)	Secondary	Company	Catalog
				#
PPARa (H-98)	52	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	9000
Phospho PPARα (Ser 12)	52	Rabbit	Abcam	3484
Phospho PPARα (Ser 21)	52	Rabbit	Abcam	3485
Phospho MAPK p44/42	44, 42	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	9101
(Thr 202/Tyr 204)				
MAPK p44/42	44, 42	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	9102
Phospho MAPK p38	43	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	9211
MAPK p38	43	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	9212
scd1 (E-15)	37	Goat	Santa Cruz	14720
eEF2	95	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	2332

Table 3. List of Secondary Antibodies

Secondary Antibody	Working	Company	Catalog #
	Dilution		
HRP Rabbit: Blotting	1:10000	BioRad	170-6515
grade goat anti-rabbit IgG			
(H + L)(Human IgG			
adsorbed) HRP			
HRP Goat: Peroxidase-	1:10000	Jackson	005-030-003
conjugated chrom-pure		Immunoresearch	
Goat IgG		Laboratories	

4. RESULTS

4.1 Dose response of CLA isomers and linoleic acid on LD formation in rat hepatoma cells

Rat H4IIE hepatoma cells were grown to 60-70% confluency on a 12- or 24-well plate in alpha-Minimum Essential Medium (α -MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Quiescence was achieved by incubation in serum-free media for 72 hours. Quiescent H4IIE cells were treated with different concentrations (60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 µM) of cis-9,trans-11 (c9,t11) or trans-10,cis-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers or linoleic acid (LA). Cells without any of the above treatments were included as controls. The cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. In order to assess lipid accumulation, the cells were stained with Oil Red O to visualize LDs and counter-stained with hematoxylin to assess the histological appearance after treatment with respective CLA isomer or LA. Compared to the untreated controls, treatment of H4IIE cells with individual CLA isomers or LA resulted in significant LD formation in a dose-dependent manner (Figures 1-6). However, there was no significant difference in lipid accumulation at higher concentrations, i.e. between 120 μ M and 180 μ M of c9,t11 CLA (Figure 2) or t10,c12 CLA (Figure 4) or LA (Figure 6) which neither increased nor decreased relative to 60 µM but remained at a plateau phase. Interestingly, even though treatment with 180 μ M of LA resulted in a higher LD concentration, fewer cells were observed in comparison with the control or lower concentrations of LA (Figure 6). A possible explanation is that most of the cells treated with 180 μ M LA were stained more due to a much larger number of LDs

in these cells. Alternatively, cell death led to LD deposition onto the plate and this material was stained with the Oil Red O.



Figure 1. Dose response of *cis-9,trans-*11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M c9,t11 CLA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of this isomer on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was determined by staining cells with Oil Red O and counter-stained with hematoxylin. LDs are stained red while the nuclei appear blue. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and the pictures are representative of three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m and is applicable to all panels.



Figure 2. Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells treated with increasing concentrations of *cis-9,trans-*11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M c9,t11 CLA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of this isomer on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was quantified after 24 hours by eluting the Oil Red O stain in 2-propanol and measuring the absorbance of the eluate at 500 nm. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.



Figure 3. Dose response of *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomer on lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M t10,c12 CLA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of this isomer on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was determined by staining cells with Oil Red O and counter-stained with hematoxylin. LDs are stained red while the nuclei appear blue. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and the pictures are representative of three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m and is applicable to all panels.


Figure 4. Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells treated with increasing concentrations of *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomer.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M t10,c12 CLA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of this isomer on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was quantified after 24 hours by eluting the Oil Red O stain in 2-propanol and measuring the absorbance of the eluate at 500 nm. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.



Figure 5. Dose response of linoleic acid on lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M LA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of LA on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was determined by staining cells with Oil Red O and counterstained with hematoxylin. LDs are stained red while the nuclei appear blue. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and the pictures are representative of three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m and is applicable to all panels.



Figure 6. Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells treated with increasing concentrations of linoleic acid.

H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M LA for 24 hours to assess the direct effects of LA on the cytoplasmic LD formation. Lipid accumulation was quantified after 24 hours by eluting the Oil Red O stain in 2-propanol and measuring the absorbance of the eluate at 500 nm. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

4.2 Triacsin C effectively reduces LD formation in H4IIE cells

Exogenously supplied FAs are activated *via* acyl co-A synthetase (ACS) to FA acyl-CoAs to be channeled either toward lipid synthesis and storage or toward oxidation pathways. The FA acyl-CoAs can then be metabolized to form triglycerides (TGs), phospholipids (PL) and cholesteryl esters (CE). If there is an excess supply of exogenous FAs, they can be stored as TGs in LDs. Therefore, we investigated the effect of inhibiting this first essential step in the metabolism of long-chain FA metabolism in the hepatocytes. Quiescent H4IIE cells were pre-treated with 4 μ M of the ACS inhibitor, triacsin C, for 10 minutes. Cells were then treated with 60 μ M of the individual CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) or LA for 24 hours. Cells without any of the above treatments were included as controls. After 24 hours incubation, the cells were stained with Oil Red O to visualize LDs and counter-stained with hematoxylin to assess histological appearance. Compared to the untreated controls, treatment of H4IIE cells with individual CLA isomers resulted in significant LD formation. Interestingly, pre-treatment of H4IIE cells with triacsin C before the supplementation with individual CLA isomers or LA significantly reduced LD formation (Figures 7-8).

These results indicate that LD formation by CLA isomers or LA is regulated at the initial level of TG synthesis and suggest that ACS plays an important role in the regulation of CLA isomer- or LA-induced LD formation in H4IIE hepatocytes.

Figure 7. Effect of triacsin C on lipid accumulation induced by *cis*-9,*trans*-11 (c9,t11) and *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and linoleic acid in quiescent H4IIE cell.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 4 μ M triacsin C (T) or vehicle for ten minutes prior to the addition of 120 μ M of c9,t11 CLA, 120 μ M t10,c12 CLA or 120 μ M LA. Cells were incubated for another 24 hours to assess the effects of triacsin C on cytoplasmic LD formation in response to the respective FAs. Lipid accumulation was determined by staining cells with Oil Red O and counter-stained with hematoxylin. LDs are stained red while the nuclei appear blue. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and the pictures are representative of three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m and is applicable to all panels.





Figure 8. Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells treated with triacsin C on lipid accumulation induced by *cis-9,trans-11* (c9,t11) and *trans-10,cis-12* (t10,c12) CLA isomers and linoleic acid.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 4 μ M triacsin C or vehicle for ten minutes prior to the addition of 120 μ M of c9,t11 CLA, 120 μ M t10,c12 CLA or 120 μ M LA. Lipid accumulation was quantified after 24 hours by eluting the Oil Red O stain with 2-propanol and measuring the absorbance of the eluate at 500 nm. Data are presented as adjusted means \pm SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments are considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

4.3 Wy14643 reduces lipid accumulation in CLA isomer as well as linoleic acid treated cells

Fibrates are well known hypolipidemic drugs that operate *via* the nuclear transcription factor PPAR α . H4IIE cells specifically express the PPAR α isoform and it acts as a lipid sensor in the cells. Therefore, we investigated the direct effects of PPAR α activation on CLA- and LA-induced LD formation in H4IIE cells using the potent PPAR α activator, Wy14643. Quiescent H4IIE cells were pre-treated with 250 μ M of Wy14643 for ten minutes. Cells were then treated with 120 μ M of the individual CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) or LA for 24 hours. Cells without any of the above treatments were included as controls. After 24 hours incubation, the cells were stained with Oil Red O to visualize LDs and counter-stained with hematoxylin to assess the histological appearance. Compared to the untreated controls, treatment of H4IIE cells with individual CLA isomers or LA resulted in significant LD formation. Treatment with Wy14643 prior to individual CLA isomer supplementation significantly reduced LD formation (Figures 9-10). However, H4IIE cells pre-treated with Wy14643 prior to LA supplementation exhibited no difference to the untreated controls.

These results indicate that PPAR α activation plays an important role in the reduction of CLA isomer- and LA-induced LD formation in H4IIE hepatocytes.

Figure 9. Effect of Wy14643 on lipid accumulation induced by *cis*-9,*trans*-11 (c9,t11) and *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and linoleic acid in quiescent H4IIE cells.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 250 μ M Wy14643 or vehicle for ten minutes prior to the addition of 120 μ M of c9,t11 CLA, 120 μ M t10,c12 CLA and 120 μ M LA. Cells were incubated for another 24 hours to assess the effects of Wy14643 (Wy) on cytoplasmic LD formation in response to the respective FAs. Lipid accumulation was determined by staining cells with Oil Red O and counter-stained with hematoxylin. LDs are stained red while the nuclei appear blue. Treatments were conducted in triplicate and the pictures are representative of three independent experiments. Scale bar represents 10 μ m and is applicable to all panels.

1





Figure 10. Quantification of lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells treated with Wy14643 on lipid accumulation induced by *cis*-9,*trans*-11 (c9,t11) and *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomers and linoleic acid.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 250 μ M Wy14643 or vehicle for ten minutes prior to the addition of 120 μ M of c9,t11 CLA, 120 μ M t10,c12 CLA and 120 μ M LA. Lipid accumulation was quantified by eluting the Oil Red O stain with 2-propanol and measuring the absorbance of the eluate at 500 nm. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

4.4 CLA isomers promote cell viability at low concentration

To evaluate the effect of lipid accumulation on the viability of H4IIE rat hepatomas, quiescent H4IIE cells were treated with different concentrations (0 μ M, 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M) of CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) or LA for 24 hours at 37 °C. Cells without any of the above treatments were included as controls. After incubating for 24 h, cell viability was measured with the cck-8 assay. As shown in Figure 11 and 12, cell viability was significantly increased at the 60 μ M concentration of both CLA isomers (compared with the untreated controls, p < 0.05). However, a much higher concentration of c9,t11 CLA isomer (180 μ M) significantly decreased cell viability compared with controls as well as with the 60 μ M c9,t11 CLA group, (p < 0.05). A similar increase in viability was observed for cells treated with the t10,c12 CLA isomer at 60 μ M, compared to 0, 120 and 180 μ M but none of the treatments decreased viability compared to the untreated control (Figure 12). There was no statistically significant effect of the 60 μ M LA treatment on cell viability, however, treatment with LA at 180 μ M resulted in a significant decrease in H4IIE viability compared with the untreated control (p < 0.05, Figure 13).



Figure 11. Effects of *cis-9,trans-*11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on quiescent H4IIE cell viability.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M of c9,t11 CLA isomer in separate wells of a 96-well plate. Cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. Cell viability was assessed by using the cck-8 kit. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.



Figure 12. Effects of *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomer on quiescent H4IIE cell viability.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M of t10,c12 CLA isomer in separate wells of a 96-well plate. Cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. Cell viability was assessed by using the cck-8 kit. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.



Figure 13. Effects of linoleic acid on quiescent H4IIE cell viability.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 60 μ M, 120 μ M and 180 μ M LA in separate wells of a 96-well plate. Cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C. Cell viability was assessed by using the cck-8 kit. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

4.5 Wy14643 reduces cell viability in the presence of CLA isomers or linoleic acid

As shown previously, compared to the untreated control cells, treatment with 60 μ M of the individual CLA isomers significantly increased cell viability, but there was no effect of 60 μ M LA treatment. Interestingly, combined treatment with a PPAR α activator, Wy14643, resulted in decreased cell viability when compared to the cells treated with 60 μ M concentration of the respective FAs alone. However, Wy14643 alone without any of the FA treatments had no effect on cell viability (Figure 14) indicating that PPAR α activation under conditions of lipid accumulation results in reduced cell viability.



Figure 14. Effect of Wy14643 and fatty acid supplementation on quiescent H4IIE cell viability.

Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 250 μ M Wy14643 or vehicle for ten minutes prior to the addition of 60 μ M of c9,t11 CLA, 60 μ M t10,c12 CLA or 60 μ M LA in separate wells of a 96-well plate. Cells were incubated for another 24 hours at 37°C. Cell viability was assessed by using the cck-8 kit. The absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate reader. Data are presented as adjusted means ± SEM of three independent experiments performed in triplicate. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

4.6 Role of dietary CLA isomers on expression and phosphorylation of PPAR α in *fa/fa* Zucker rats

The reduction in LD formation in Wy14643-treated H4IIE cells suggests that PPAR α may effectively modulate FA metabolism under conditions with elevated FAs such as obesity and steatosis. Therefore, we investigated the effect of dietary CLA isomers on PPAR α expression and phosphorylation in the livers of 7 week old male *fa/fa* and lean Zucker rats fed either a control or a CLA isomer (0.4% wt/wt c9,t11 or 0.4% wt/wt t10,c12) diet for 8 weeks (kindly provided by Danielle Stringer).

Hepatic tissues from these animals were used for immunoblotting. Our results showed that the *fa/fa* rats fed t10,c12 CLA isomer (fa 10,12) had a significantly lower level of phospho-PPAR α S21 compared to the lean control (ln Ctl) (Figure 16). However, there was no significant difference in the phosphorylation of PPAR α at the two serine positions (S12 and S21) between the *fa/fa* control (fa Ctl) and the CLA-fed *fa/fa* rats (Figures 15-16). There was no significant effect of dietary CLA on PPAR α levels (Figure 17). Also, no significant changes were detected in the levels of stearoyl co-A desaturase1 (scd1) in the fa groups as compared to the ln Ctl (Figure 20). In contrast, there was a trend towards an increase in the phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK in the fa Ctl and the fa 10,12 groups compared to the ln Ctl group which was not observed with the c9,t11 diet (Figure 18). The t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly increased the phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in the *fa/fa* rats (fa 10,12 group) compared to ln Ctl (Figure 19).

These results suggest that only the t10,c12 CLA isomer affects the phosphorylation of PPAR α , specifically through a decrease in its phosphorylation at Ser

21, while the c9,t11 isomer had no significant effect on the phosphorylation at either of the serines (S12 as well as S21). Interestingly, the decrease in PPAR α phosphorylation by the t10,c12 CLA isomer was associated with activation of the p38 MAPK pathway. This indicates that the t10,c12 CLA isomer affects PPAR α phosphorylation and thereby its transcriptional activity in a MAPK-independent manner. It is interesting to note that the phosphorylation levels of PPAR α S21 (Figure 16) and p38 MAPK (Figure 19) are reversed suggesting that the two signalling pathways may be inversely regulated in the Zucker rats.



Figure 15: Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-12 levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats (fa ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats fed *cis*-9,*trans*-11 CLA (fa 9,11) and fa/fa Zucker rats fed *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-PPARa S-12 and PPARa. A representative blot is shown.



Figure 16: Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-21 levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats (fa ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats fed *cis*-9,*trans*-11 CLA (fa 9,11) and fa/fa Zucker rats fed *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-PPAR α S-21 and PPAR α .. A representative blot is shown.



Figure 17: Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats (fa ctl), fa/fa Zucker rats fed *cis*-9,*trans*-11 CLA (fa 9,11) and fa/fa Zucker rats fed *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using an antibody that recognizes PPARa. A representative blot is shown.



Figure 18: Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats (fa ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *cis*-9,*trans*-11 CLA (fa 9,11) and *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p44/42 MAPK and p44/42 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.

In CTL fa CTL fa 9,11 fa 10,12



Figure 19: Phospho-p38 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats (fa ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *cis-9,trans-11* CLA (fa 9,11) and *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *trans-10,cis-12* CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p38 MAPK and p38 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.

b) Corresponding densitometric analysis of the bands (panel a) in arbitrary units. Experimental data were analyzed with SAS software (version 9.1.3), using a mixed model analysis with a random intercept for the repetitions. Data are presented as adjusted means \pm SEM (n=6). Contrast statements were used to make individual comparisons of treatments versus control. Differences between treatments were considered significant at p<0.05 and are indicated by different lowercase letters.

a)

b)



Figure 20: Stearoyl co-A desaturase 1 (scd1) levels in livers of lean and *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

a) Hepatic protein extracts from lean Zucker rats (ln ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats (fa ctl), *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *cis-9,trans-11* CLA (fa 9,11) and *fa/fa* Zucker rats fed *trans-10,cis-12* CLA (fa 10,12) for 8 weeks were analyzed by immunoblotting using an antibody that recognizes scd1. A representative blot is shown.

5. DISCUSSION

The triggers leading to fatty liver and their relation to the molecular mechanisms and respective signaling molecules that modulate hepatic FA metabolism are incompletely understood. Hepatic lipid overloading mainly in the form of TGs is considered a prerequisite for the development of NAFLD (113, 169). The cytotoxicity of CLA isomers, particulary the t10,c12 isomer, has been previously reported for rat hepatomas, however, no direct link to LD formation was shown (247). The nuclear transcription factor, PPAR α , and ACS are key players in hepatic FA oxidation and activation, respectively. Thus, they play important roles in the regulation of hepatic lipid metabolism.

Our hypothesis states that an increase in LD formation induced by CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) reduces rat hepatoma H4IIE viability. As LD formation in hepatocytes is poorly understood, our first aim was to understand the underlying mechanism. We, therefore, investigated the role of FA and PPAR α activation in the regulation of these cellular processes. We compared the effects of different concentrations of the c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers to their parent FA, LA, in the process of LD induction in quiescent H4IIE cells. We found that CLA isomers as well as LA increased LD formation in a dose-dependent manner up to 120 μ M. However, we observed no significant difference in lipid accumulation at higher concentrations (120 and 180 μ M) of the FAs, indicating that LD formation reaches a plateau phase. Furthermore, this response to LD formation

was associated with changes in H4IIE viability. For the first time, we report that triacsin C significantly reduces CLA- and LA-induced LD formation in quiescent H4IIE cells implicating an important role of ACS in conditions with increased lipid accumulation such as fatty liver diseases. We also demonstrate that activation of PPAR α by Wy14643 produces similar effects and supports previous findings that PPAR α plays a primary role in the regulation of hepatic lipid metabolism. It is important to mention that the effect of triacsin C on cell viability was not studied. Triacsin C was able to reduce LD accumulation in the FA treated cells but it is unknown if this effect of triacsin C will affect cell viability. It could be speculated that the inhibition of LD formation with triascin C occurs at an earlier stage, thereby inhibiting cell growth as was observed with the Wy14643 treatment. In addition to our *in vitro* studies, we have also investigated the effects of dietary CLA isomers on PPAR α and MAPK phosphorylation in *fa/fa* rat liver and speculate on the importance of this signaling pathway in the anti-steatotic effect of the t10,c12 CLA isomer observed in the *fa/fa* Zucker rats.

CLA isomers and LD formation

Recent findings from our lab have indicated that CLA isomers neither reduce nor prevent but rather induce LD formation in H4IIE cells (205). Therefore, we further investigated the dose response of c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers on lipid accumulation in quiescent H4IIE cells and subsequent cell viability. Since CLA consists of positional and geometric isomers of LA, we conducted a similar set of experiments using LA to determine CLA-specific effects. Compared to the untreated controls, treatment of H4IIE

cells with individual CLA isomers or LA for 24 hours resulted in significant LD formation in a dose-dependent manner, but after a concentration of 120 µM there was no increase or decrease in LD formation (Figures 1-6). In fact there was no significant difference in lipid accumulation at higher concentrations, i.e. between 120 µM and 180 µM of c9,t11 CLA (Figure 2), t10,c12 CLA (Figure 4) or LA (Figure 6) lipid accumulation remained at a plateau phase. Excess energy is stored as TGs sequestered in LDs during lipogenesis in mammalian cells, but little is understood about how animals package fat within cells. LDs participate actively in a variety of metabolic processes and are, therefore, considered functional and dynamic organelles in cells. When energy is required, the stored TGs are hydrolyzed via activation of lipolytic pathways and the released FAs are then transported by serum albumin to various tissues to provide energy. Zehmer et al. (255) observed that in non-adipocytes, LDs are small, mobile and interact with other cellular organelles, such as the mitochondria and peroxisomes. Therefore, LD formation may be part of a hepatoprotective mechanism at lower lipid concentrations that operates by reducing the cellular levels of non-esterified toxic FAs. Also, since CLA isomers affect hepatic LD formation in a similar dose-dependent pattern as the essential FA, LA, we speculate that both CLA and LA may be metabolized in similar pathways in the liver.

CLA isomers and cell viability

Accumulation of intracellular lipid in non-adipocytes is associated with lipotoxicity (5, 85, 233) We, therefore, evaluated the viability of H4IIE rat hepatomas following exposure to different concentrations of CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) or LA for 24 hours. H4IIE viability was significantly increased at the 60 μ M concentration of c9,t11 CLA isomer as detected by the WST-8 dye (Figure 11). However, at a much higher concentration of c9,t11 CLA isomer (180 μ M), cell viability was significantly decreased. Although LDs are essential for normal cell function, excess accumulation of intracellular lipid is associated with several metabolic diseases, including hepatic steatosis, insulin resistance and inflammation (7).

A similar statistically significant increase in cell viability was observed for the t10,c12 CLA isomer at 60 μ M. Likewise, there was a significant decrease in H4IIE viability at a much higher concentration of 180 μ M t10,c12 CLA (Figure 12). The cytotoxicity of CLA isomers, the t10,c12 isomer in particular, has been reported for rat hepatomas (246), however, to date, no link to LD formation has been studied. CLA isomers have been shown to inhibit the proliferation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (193), as well as numerous cancer cell lines (30, 99, 116). Recently, the isomer-specific effect of the c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers was studied and it was found that while both CLA isomers inhibited the proliferation of human breast cancer cells, the c9,t11 isomer had the strongest effect (30). However, we demonstrate for the first time that the effect of CLA isomers on H4IIE viability is mainly dependent on the concentration. From our results, it can be speculated that the CLA isomers have a positive effect on cell growth at low concentrations, however, as the concentration of LD increases, it begins to exhibit a negative effect on cell viability mainly due to the toxic nature of unesterified FAs in the cells.

There was no effect of the $60 \,\mu$ M LA treatment on the viability of quiescent H4IIEs, however, treatment with LA at concentrations higher than 120 μ M resulted in a significant decrease in cell viability (Figure 13). The accumulation of lipids in liver and other metabolically relevant organs such as pancreatic beta-cells, heart and skeletal muscle contributes substantially to the pathophysiology of insulin resistance, steatotic liver disease and heart failure (201). Accumulation of lipid in non-adipose tissues under obese conditions, is also associated with ER stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and ultimately apoptosis (244). In one study, when pancreatic islets from the Zucker diabetic fatty rats were cultured with different FAs (oleate or palmitate), an increase in ceramide level and apoptosis were observed. These effects were blocked by fumonisin B, an inhibitor of ceramide synthesis, suggesting that FAs cause apoptosis *via* a ceramide-mediated pathway (199). Taken as a whole, these studies imply that lipid accumulation can either act as a marker or as a source of toxic lipid products such as ceramide that reduce cell viability or promote apoptosis.

In another study, the cytotoxicity of oleate and palmitate in isolated normal rat islet beta-cells was associated with less TG accumulation, and the authors speculated that the FAs themselves are non-toxic. Rather it is the formation of cytosolic TG from exogenous FA that protects against FA-induced apoptosis (35). Therefore, it is uncertain as to whether TG exerts only positive or negative effects (145). We studied the dose response of CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) and LA on hepatoma viability and have determined that the CLA isomers promote cell growth at lower concentrations but reduce cell viability at higher concentrations. There was no effect of LA on H4IIE viability at a low concentration (Figure 13). However, it reduced cell viability at higher concentrations

in a manner similar to that observed with the CLA isomers. Our results are consistent with previous reports that, although a certain amount of lipid storage may be hepatoprotective, prolonged excess lipid storage can result in a loss of metabolic competency (7).

Triacsin C effectively reduces hepatoma LD formation

To directly address the effect of inhibiting the first essential step in the hepatic synthesis of long-chain FAs, in the presence of an exogenous supply of CLA isomers or LA, we treated quiescent H4IIE cells with triacsin C, a potent inhibitor of ACS. A pre-treatment with 4 μ M of triacsin C for 10 minutes was sufficient to diminish CLA isomer or LA stimulated hepatic LD formation (Figure 7). Our results demonstrate that inhibiting ACS and thereby preventing TG synthesis significantly reduces hepatic LD formation in quiescent H4IIE cells (Figure 8).

Our data are consistent with previous reports that exogenously supplied FAs are converted by ACS to their FA acyl-CoAs, which can then be metabolized to form TGs, phospholipids and cholesteryl esters. The predominant pathways for FAs are their storage as TGs in LDs, membrane biosynthesis, and conversion to energy (48). The length of the carbon chain of the FA species defines the substrate specificity for the five different ACS enzymes characterized so far. Mammalian ACS activate FAs with usual chain lengths of 12 to 20 carbon atoms. CLA, which consists of positional and geometric isomers of LA, is an 18 carbon FA and, therefore, CLA isomers may serve as good substrates for this enzyme. The ACS isoforms differ in their subcellular location. Using non-cross-reacting ACS1, ACS4, and ACS5 peptide antibodies, Lewin et al. (111) showed that ACS4 was the only ACS isoform present in peroxisomes and in mitochondria-associated membrane fractions isolated from livers of gemfibrozil-treated rats and proposed that ACS4 is linked to TG synthesis (110).

Our *in vitro* findings are also in agreement with other *in vivo* reports that have shown that triacsin C can inhibit TG synthesis in hepatocytes from both fed (about 70%) and starved rats (about 40%) (136). Triacsin C also inhibited the synthesis of cholesteryl ester and TG in mouse peritoneal macrophages, leading to a reduction of LDs (141). Recently, Matsuda et al (130) have reported that inhibition of ACS activity in LDLR^{-/-} mice fed a high cholesterol diet has anti-atherogenic activity. Our results have demonstrated for the first time that LD formation in H4IIE cells in response to CLA isomers or LA treatment is directly reduced by triacsin C.

Therefore, we conclude that ACS is an important enzyme in mediating CLA or LA induced hepatic LD formation. Future studies on determining the effects of CLA isomers or LA on ACS activity may thus be useful.

Wy14643 reduces lipid accumulation in CLA isomer as well as LA treated cells

H4IIE cells specifically express the PPAR α isoform (253), which is an important transcription factor regulating genes of FA oxidation. In the liver, PPAR α plays a pivotal role in numerous processes including gluconeogenesis and lipid metabolism (124). PPAR α mediates the effects of hypolipidemic fibrate drugs, which decrease plasma TGs and increase plasma HDL concentrations. Currently, the mechanisms by which CLA isomers affect fatty liver or hepatic steatosis are unclear. CLA may be working either independently or dependently of PPAR α . H4IIE cells are thus a valuable tool for elucidating the direct effects of PPAR α activation on CLA isomer- or LA-induced hepatic lipid accumulation by using a potent PPAR α activator, Wy14643.

Similar to our results with triacsin C, we observed that treatment with Wy14643 prior to supplementation with individual CLA isomers or LA significantly reduced LD formation (Figures 9-10). These studies were achieved using quiescent H4IIE cells treated with 250 μ M of Wy14643 for 10 minutes prior to the addition of 60 μ M c9,t11 CLA or 60 μ M t10,c12 CLA or 60 μ M LA, followed by a further 24 hour incubation period. However, it was interesting to note that Wy1463 reduced LD formation in LA treated cells to the level of the untreated controls while only partially inhibiting LD formation in response to the CLA isomers (Figures 9-10).

Contrary to our *in vitro* results, several studies in rats showed that CLA decreases hepatic TG levels by increasing the gene expression of lipid oxidative genes (180-181, 228), which are target genes of PPAR α . Furthermore, recent evidence from our lab demonstrated that the t10,c12 CLA isomer reduces hepatic steatosis in obese insulinresistant *fa/fa* Zucker rats, possibly by decreasing hepatic adipophilin levels and reducing LD size in the liver (205). It is interesting to note that adipophilin is transcriptionally regulated by PPAR α in mouse liver and rat and human hepatoma cells through a highly conserved direct repeat-1(DR-1) element (37). Taken together, these results indicate that PPAR α plays a significant role in the regulation of hepatic TG level in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* models.

Wy14643 reduces H4IIE cell viability

As shown previously, compared to untreated control cells, treatment with 60 μ M of the CLA isomers significantly increased cell viability but there was no effect of 60 μ M LA treatment. Interestingly, combined treatment of Wy14643 (PPAR α activator) with CLA isomers or LA decreased H4IIE viability. However, Wy14643 in the absence of the FAs had no effect on cell viability (Figure 14). Our findings indicate that PPAR α activation by Wy14643 in the presence of CLA isomers or LA was associated with decreased cell viability thereby implicating the importance of this nuclear receptor in the survival of the H4IIE cells. From our results, it can be speculated that the inhibition of LD formation by Wy14643 occurs at an early stage, thereby also inhibiting cell growth at an early stage. Consequently, this may decrease cell viability at low concentrations (60 μ M) of the CLA isomers that otherwise promote cell viability.

Dietary CLA isomers and PPAR α expression and phosphorylation in liver of *fa/fa* Zucker rats

Our previous observation that PPAR α activation is associated with reduced LD formation in H4IIE cells suggests that PPAR α effectively modulates FA metabolism under conditions associated with elevated FAs such as obesity and steatosis. PPAR α can exist in a phosphorylated form, and its phosphorylation is increased by ciprofibrate in Fao cells (106). In addition to its ligand-induced activation, PPAR α is regulated by ubiquitination (176) and phosphorylation *via* ERK-MAPK, PKA and PKC (49). CLA, primarily the c9,t11 CLA isomer, has been shown to be a potent ligand for human PPAR α (134). However, the effect of CLA isomers on PPAR α phosphorylation is currently unknown. Therefore, we investigated the effect of dietary CLA isomers on PPAR α level and its phosphorylation in the livers of 7 week old male *fa/fa* and lean Zucker rats fed either a control or a CLA isomer (0.4% wt/wt c9,t11 or 0.4% wt/wt t10,c12) diet for 8 weeks (kindly provided by Danielle Stringer).

Immunoblotting results showed that feeding the fa/fa rats the c9,t11 CLA isomer (fa 9,11) had no significant effect on PPAR α phosphorylation compared to the lean control (ln Ctl) (Figures 15). Also, compared to the ln Ctl, levels of phospho-PPARa S21 were significantly lower in the t10,c12 CLA-fed fa/fa rats (fa 10,12) while there was no significant effect of t10,c12 on phospho-PPARa S12 (Figure 16). However, PPARa level was not significantly affected by any of the dietary CLA treatments (Figure 17). These results suggest that only the t10,c12 CLA isomer affects PPARa phosphorylation at the serine 21 position. Interestingly, treatment of quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells with the potent PPARa agonist, Wy14643 reduced phospho-PPARa S12 and S21 levels (Figures A.1-A.2 in the Appendix section). Other investigators (208) have shown that PPAR α mRNA and protein levels as well as PPARa transcriptional activity are increased through decreasing receptor phosphorylation at serines in the AF1 region of human hepatoma cells (HepG2) (discussed in detail in Review of Literature 2.1.3-iii PPARs- PPARa section). These results show that both Wy14643 and the t10,c12 CLA isomer similarly reduce hepatic PPAR α phosphorylation at Ser 21 whereas the c9,t11 CLA isomer has no significant effect on PPARa phosphorylation.

There was no significant difference in the levels of stearoyl co-A desaturase1 (scd1) in the fa Ctl and the fa 10,12 groups compared to the ln Ctl (Figure 18).

Furthermore, we observed no significant difference in the phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK (Figure 19) in the fa Ctl and the fa 10,12 groups compared to the ln Ctl group. The t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly increased the phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in the *fa/fa* rats (fa 10,12 group) compared to all the other groups (ln Ctl, fa Ctl and the fa 9,11 groups) (Figure 20). However, neither of the CLA isomers affected p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells (Figures A.5-A.6 in the Appendix section). These data imply that the effects of the t10,c12 CLA isomer on p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation observed in the *fa/fa* Zucker rats may be an indirect effect of this CLA isomer.

A recent study demonstrated that aldose reductase (which catalyzes the reduction of a variety of aldehydes and carbonyls, including monosaccharides) regulates hepatic PPAR α phosphorylation and activity mainly by p44/42 MAPK signaling in mouse hepatocytes (179). The MAPK signal transduction pathway has an important role in cell growth. Thus, discovering if CLA isomers mediate PPAR α functions either in a MAPKdependent or -independent manner could provide useful information regarding the actions of this important bioactive compound. We have demonstrated that the activation of MAPK signalling molecule (increased p38 phosphorylation) in fa 10,12 rats was associated with reduced PPAR α phosphorylation at S-21 indicating that the t10,c12 CLA isomer affects these molecules through independent pathways. It is also interesting to note that a similar response in PPAR α (reduced phosphorylation) and MAPK (increased phosphorylation) was observed with the PPAR α activator, Wy14643 (Figure A.3 in the Appendix section). Therefore, we speculate that Wy14643 and the t10,c12 CLA isomer
increase PPAR α transcriptional activity via reduced receptor phosphorylation in a MAPK independent manner.

The importance of PPAR α as a dietary FA sensor and in regulating hepatic FA content and composition was highlighted in another study under low fat intake conditions (4.8% w/w) which showed that PUFAs reduced hepatic fat stores in wild-type PPAR α mice but not PPAR α null mice (126). NAFLD is closely linked with obesity and an anti-obesity role for PPAR α is well supported by several studies in rodents administered synthetic PPAR α agonists (71, 123, 226). Murakami et al. (137) indicated a protective effect of PPAR α agonism against abnormal lipid metabolism in the liver of obese Zucker *fa/fa* rats.

Previous studies from our laboratory have demonstrated that the PPAR α ligand, t10,c12 CLA, reduces hepatic steatosis in obese insulin-resistant *fa/fa* Zucker rats. These changes were associated with a significant decrease in hepatic adipophilin levels and a reduction in LD size (205). This effect was not observed with the c9,t11 CLA isomer. Our results, therefore, contribute to an understanding of the roles of FA and PPAR α in CLA-induced LD formation in H4IIE cells and in understanding the mechanism of the anti-steatotic effect of the t10,c12 CLA isomer in *fa/fa* Zucker rats. Priore et al. (177) have also suggested that increased FA oxidation with consequent decreased FA availability for TG synthesis is a potential mechanism by which CLA isomers reduce TG levels in rat liver. PPAR α activation up-regulates genes involved in FA oxidation pathways, as well as increases hepatic uptake and esterification of FFAs (59). Therefore, future studies need to focus on expression of PPAR α target genes involved in FA oxidation in response to CLA isomer treatment.

These results indicate that PPAR α activation has important implications in treating NAFLD mainly by the reduction of hepatic LD formation via decreased receptor phosphorylation which possibly increases its transcriptional activity and affects hepatic gene transcription. The H4IIE cells served as a useful model to examine the direct effects of CLA isomers, particularly on signal transduction while the animal model looked at the long-term exposure of dietary CLA. Thus these two systems play different roles.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The findings from this study support our first hypothesis that CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) induce LD formation via ACS which is prevented by triacsin C or Wy14643. Since a similar effect on lipid accumulation was observed with LA, it can be concluded that LD formation in H4IIE cells is not unique to CLA isomers but more likely a FA effect.

ACS regulates the first essential step of TG formation by converting FAs into their acyl CoA forms in the endoplasmic reticulum, which is also the site associated with the biogenesis of LDs in cells. We show for the first time that ACS inhibition with triacsin C is linked to significant reductions in hepatic LD formation by LA or CLA isomers. In addition to ACS, we show that in the presence of Wy14643, LD formation was significantly reduced. These results indicate that FA and PPAR α activation have a modulating role in hepatic lipid accumulation.

The increase in LD formation induced by CLA isomers, particularly at high concentration, was found to be associated with reduced rat hepatoma viability and thereby supports our second hypothesis.

From our results, we conclude that the physiological effects of CLA isomers on LD formation and cell viability are related and depend largely on the concentration of the FA. At low dosage, LD formation is hepatoprotective by activating the storage pathway via ACS and subsequent sequestering of the excess FAs as TGs into LDs. CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) promote quiescent H4IIE viability at low concentrations while LA has no such effect. However, the ability of the hepatocytes to store excess FAs declines at higher doses of CLA and LA and this effect was associated with reduced cell viability. Consequently, concentrations higher than 120 μ M of the CLA isomers or LA decreased the viability of the hepatoma cells.

In addition, we demonstrate for the first time that dietary t10,c12 CLA isomer significantly reduced PPAR α phosphorylation which is contrary to our last hypothesis. The t10,c12 CLA isomer specifically increased p38 MAPK phosphorylation *in vivo* but this effect was not observed with the c9,t11 isomer. These results indicate that the t10,c12 CLA isomer mediates hepatic PPAR α phosphorylation and thereby its activity in a MAPK-independent manner. Since these changes were only observed between the ln Ctl and the obese insulin resistant *fa/fa* rats fed the t10,c12 CLA diet, the group with decreased hepatic steatosis, we speculate that activation of PPAR α through decreased receptor phosphorylation at serine 21 in the AF1 region may be an independent effect of the t10,c12 CLA isomer in obesity and insulin resistance.

Therefore, results of this thesis provide novel insights into the mechanism of the isomer-specific effects of CLA in LD formation, cell viability and help to shed light into the underlying mechanism, particularly with respect to the role of ACS and PPAR α activation in these two important cellular processes.

7. STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE RESEARCH

STRENGTHS

One of the greatest strengths of this study was the use of the rat H4IIE hepatoma cell line as the experimental model. Firstly, H4IIE cells specifically express the PPAR α isoform. Secondly, *in vitro* models enable the investigation of the effects of various compounds under similar conditions and timelines, which is not feasible with animal models.

By using H4IIE cells, we have demonstrated for the first time that LD formation by CLA isomers and LA is dose-dependent. We further showed that this effect is markedly reduced by triacsin C, a potent inhibitor of acyl CoA synthetases, as well as the PPAR α agonist, Wy14643. This *in vitro* model has enabled us to examine the direct effects of CLA isomers on hepaocyte viability with respect to LD formation and lipid accumulation.

Furthermore, cell viability was assessed with WST-8, which is much more sensitive than the conventional MTT, XTT, MTS or WST-1 and the kit does not require harvesting, washing or solubilization steps. Thus, experimental error is greatly reduced. The cck assay can also be used to indicate cell growth, however, when applied to quiescent and non-growing cells, it can be used to measure survival or cell viability.

LIMITATIONS

One of the main limitations of this study was regarding the cell viability assay. Cell viability was measured indirectly with the cck-8 kit which is based on the reduction of tetrazolium salts (WST-8) to formazan by dehydrogenases. It therefore implicates a role of the mitochondria in this process, but we did not study the effects of CLA isomers on mitochondria function/permeability.

Another limitation of this study was that the effects of the inhibitors or activators were not examined on the expression of their target genes or directly on the enzyme activity.

8. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

- 1. To determine the isomer-specific effects of the c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA on the expression of PPAR α target genes in hepatic LD formation.
- To measure the activity of the hepatic ACSLs in response to PPARα agonists and/or CLA isomers in order to gain a better understanding of the mechanism that triggers FA channeling into specific catabolic or synthetic pathways.
- To perform hepatic FA profiling in order to determine the effects of c9,t11 and t10,c12 CLA isomers and Wy14643 on FA composition, and determine the total amount of lipid.
- Since the mitochondria play an important role in FA oxidation and apoptosis, it would be interesting to study the effect of these compounds on mitochondrial activity or permeability.

9. **REFERENCES**

- Canadian Liver Foundation- Fatty Liver Disease. Retrieved 01 Oct 2010 from <u>http://www.liver.ca/Liver_Disease/Adult_Liver_Diseases/Fatty_Liver_Disease.as</u> <u>px</u>.
- Canadian Liver Foundation- Liver Disease. Retrieved 01 Oct 2010 from http://www.liver.ca/Liver_Disease/.
- The Kidney Foundation of Canada- History of Transplantation in Canada.
 Retrieved 01 Oct 2010 from <u>http://www.kidney.ca/Page.aspx?pid=645</u>.
- University of Wisconsin- Food Research Institute: Conjugated Linoleic Acid Reference Center. Retrieved 01 Oct 2010 from <u>www.wisc.edu/fri/clarefs.htm</u>.
- 5. Abdul-Ghani MA, Muller FL, Liu Y, Chavez AO, Balas B, Zuo P, Chang Z, Tripathy D, Jani R, Molina-Carrion M, Monroy A, Folli F, Van Remmen H, and DeFronzo RA. Deleterious action of FA metabolites on ATP synthesis: possible link between lipotoxicity, mitochondrial dysfunction, and insulin resistance. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 295: E678-685, 2008.
- Adiels M, Olofsson SO, Taskinen MR, and Boren J. Diabetic dyslipidaemia. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 17: 238-246, 2006.
- 7. Anderson N, and Borlak J. Molecular mechanisms and therapeutic targets in steatosis and steatohepatitis. *Pharmacol Rev* 60: 311-357, 2008.

- Angulo P. Noninvasive assessment of fibrosis and steatosis in NASH and ASH. *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 33: 940-948, 2009.
- Angulo P. Treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Ann Hepatol* 1: 12-19, 2002.
- Araya QA, Valera MJ, Contreras BJ, Csendes JA, Diaz JJ, Burdiles PP, Rojas CJ, Maluenda GF, Smok SG, and Poniachik TJ. [Glucose tolerance alterations and frequency of metabolic syndrome among patients with non alcoholic fatty liver disease]. *Rev Med Chil* 134: 1092-1098, 2006.
- Azain MJ, Hausman DB, Sisk MB, Flatt WP, and Jewell DE. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid reduces rat adipose tissue cell size rather than cell number. *J Nutr* 130: 1548-1554, 2000.
- Banni S, Carta G, Angioni E, Murru E, Scanu P, Melis MP, Bauman DE,
 Fischer SM, and Ip C. Distribution of conjugated linoleic acid and metabolites in different lipid fractions in the rat liver. *J Lipid Res* 42: 1056-1061, 2001.
- Barrows BR, and Parks EJ. Contributions of different fatty acid sources to very low-density lipoprotein-triacylglycerol in the fasted and fed states. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 91: 1446-1452, 2006.
- Belury MA. Inhibition of carcinogenesis by conjugated linoleic acid: potential mechanisms of action. *J Nutr* 132: 2995-2998, 2002.
- Belury MA, and Kempa-Steczko A. Conjugated linoleic acid modulates hepatic lipid composition in mice. *Lipids* 32: 199-204, 1997.

- Benito P, Nelson GJ, Kelley DS, Bartolini G, Schmidt PC, and Simon V. The effect of conjugated linoleic acid on plasma lipoproteins and tissue fatty acid composition in humans. *Lipids* 36: 229-236, 2001.
- Benito P, Nelson GJ, Kelley DS, Bartolini G, Schmidt PC, and Simon V. The effect of conjugated linoleic acid on platelet function, platelet fatty acid composition, and blood coagulation in humans. *Lipids* 36: 221-227, 2001.
- Bickel PE, Tansey JT, and Welte MA. PAT proteins, an ancient family of lipid droplet proteins that regulate cellular lipid stores. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1791: 419-440, 2009.
- Blankson H, Stakkestad JA, Fagertun H, Thom E, Wadstein J, and Gudmundsen O. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces body fat mass in overweight and obese humans. *J Nutr* 130: 2943-2948, 2000.
- Bocher V, Pineda-Torra I, Fruchart JC, and Staels B. PPARs: transcription factors controlling lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 967: 7-18, 2002.
- Bretillon L, Sebedio JL, and Chardigny JM. Might analysis, synthesis and metabolism of CLA contribute to explain the biological effects of CLA? *Eur J Med Res* 8: 363-369, 2003.
- 22. **Brookes MJ, and Cooper BT**. Hypertension and fatty liver: guilty by association? *J Hum Hypertens* 21: 264-270, 2007.
- 23. **Brown JM, and McIntosh MK**. Conjugated linoleic acid in humans: regulation of adiposity and insulin sensitivity. *J Nutr* 133: 3041-3046, 2003.

- Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, Nuremberg P, Horton JD, Cohen JC, Grundy SM, and Hobbs HH. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: impact of ethnicity. *Hepatology* 40: 1387-1395, 2004.
- 25. Cao WM, Murao K, Imachi H, Yu X, Abe H, Yamauchi A, Niimi M, Miyauchi A, Wong NC, and Ishida T. A mutant high-density lipoprotein receptor inhibits proliferation of human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 64: 1515-1521, 2004.
- 26. **Chinetti-Gbaguidi G, Fruchart JC, and Staels B**. Role of the PPAR family of nuclear receptors in the regulation of metabolic and cardiovascular homeostasis: new approaches to therapy. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 5: 177-183, 2005.
- 27. Cho MC, Lee K, Paik SG, and Yoon DY. Peroxisome Proliferators-Activated Receptor (PPAR) Modulators and Metabolic Disorders. *PPAR Res* 2008: 679137, 2008.
- 28. **Choi SS, and Diehl AM**. Hepatic triglyceride synthesis and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 19: 295-300, 2008.
- 29. Choi Y, Kim YC, Han YB, Park Y, Pariza MW, and Ntambi JM. The trans-10,cis-12 isomer of conjugated linoleic acid downregulates stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 gene expression in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *J Nutr* 130: 1920-1924, 2000.
- 30. Chujo H, Yamasaki M, Nou S, Koyanagi N, Tachibana H, and Yamada K. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on growth factor-induced proliferation of human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Lett* 202: 81-87, 2003.

- 31. Chung S, Brown JM, Sandberg MB, and McIntosh M. Trans-10,cis-12 CLA increases adipocyte lipolysis and alters lipid droplet-associated proteins: role of mTOR and ERK signaling. *J Lipid Res* 46: 885-895, 2005.
- Clark JM. The epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in adults. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 40 Suppl 1: S5-10, 2006.
- Clark JM, and Diehl AM. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: an underrecognized cause of cryptogenic cirrhosis. *JAMA* 289: 3000-3004, 2003.
- 34. Clement L, Poirier H, Niot I, Bocher V, Guerre-Millo M, Krief S, Staels B, and Besnard P. Dietary trans-10,cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid induces hyperinsulinemia and fatty liver in the mouse. *J Lipid Res* 43: 1400-1409, 2002.
- 35. **Cnop M, Hannaert JC, Hoorens A, Eizirik DL, and Pipeleers DG**. Inverse relationship between cytotoxicity of free fatty acids in pancreatic islet cells and cellular triglyceride accumulation. *Diabetes* 50: 1771-1777, 2001.
- 36. Cronet P, Petersen JF, Folmer R, Blomberg N, Sjoblom K, Karlsson U, Lindstedt EL, and Bamberg K. Structure of the PPARalpha and -gamma ligand binding domain in complex with AZ 242; ligand selectivity and agonist activation in the PPAR family. *Structure* 9: 699-706, 2001.
- 37. **Dalen KT, Ulven SM, Arntsen BM, Solaas K, and Nebb HI**. PPARalpha activators and fasting induce the expression of adipose differentiation-related protein in liver. *J Lipid Res* 47: 931-943, 2006.
- Day CP. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: current concepts and management strategies. *Clin Med* 6: 19-25, 2006.

- 39. de Deckere EA, van Amelsvoort JM, McNeill GP, and Jones P. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) isomers on lipid levels and peroxisome proliferation in the hamster. *Br J Nutr* 82: 309-317, 1999.
- 40. Degrace P, Demizieux L, Gresti J, Chardigny JM, Sebedio JL, and Clouet P.
 Association of liver steatosis with lipid oversecretion and hypotriglyceridaemia in
 C57BL/6j mice fed trans-10,cis-12-linoleic acid. *FEBS Lett* 546: 335-339, 2003.
- 41. Degrace P, Demizieux L, Gresti J, Chardigny JM, Sebedio JL, and Clouet P. Hepatic steatosis is not due to impaired fatty acid oxidation capacities in C57BL/6J mice fed the conjugated trans-10,cis-12-isomer of linoleic acid. *J Nutr* 134: 861-867, 2004.
- 42. **DeLany JP, Blohm F, Truett AA, Scimeca JA, and West DB**. Conjugated linoleic acid rapidly reduces body fat content in mice without affecting energy intake. *Am J Physiol* 276: R1172-1179, 1999.
- DeLany JP, and West DB. Changes in body composition with conjugated linoleic acid. *J Am Coll Nutr* 19: 487S-493S, 2000.
- 44. Delmonte P, Roach JA, Mossoba MM, Morehouse KM, Lehmann L, and Yurawecz MP. Synthesis and isolation of trans-7,cis-9 octadecadienoic acid and other CLA isomers by base conjugation of partially hydrogenated gammalinolenic acid. *Lipids* 38: 579-583, 2003.
- Delmonte P, Yurawecz MP, Mossoba MM, Cruz-Hernandez C, and Kramer JK. Improved identification of conjugated linoleic acid isomers using silver-ion HPLC separations. *J AOAC Int* 87: 563-568, 2004.

- 46. **Desvergne B, and Wahli W**. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: nuclear control of metabolism. *Endocr Rev* 20: 649-688, 1999.
- Digel M, Ehehalt R, and Fullekrug J. Lipid droplets lighting up: insights from live microscopy. *FEBS Lett* 584: 2168-2175, 2010.
- 48. **Digel M, Ehehalt R, Stremmel W, and Fullekrug J**. Acyl-CoA synthetases: fatty acid uptake and metabolic channeling. *Mol Cell Biochem* 326: 23-28, 2009.
- 49. Diradourian C, Le May C, Cauzac M, Girard J, Burnol AF, and Pegorier JP. Involvement of ZIP/p62 in the regulation of PPARalpha transcriptional activity by p38-MAPK. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1781: 239-244, 2008.
- 50. Diraison F, Moulin P, and Beylot M. Contribution of hepatic de novo lipogenesis and reesterification of plasma non esterified fatty acids to plasma triglyceride synthesis during non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Diabetes Metab* 29: 478-485, 2003.
- 51. Donnelly KL, Smith CI, Schwarzenberg SJ, Jessurun J, Boldt MD, and Parks EJ. Sources of fatty acids stored in liver and secreted via lipoproteins in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Clin Invest* 115: 1343-1351, 2005.
- Ducharme NA, and Bickel PE. Lipid droplets in lipogenesis and lipolysis.
 Endocrinology 149: 942-949, 2008.
- 53. Eder K, Slomma N, and Becker K. Trans-10,cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid suppresses the desaturation of linoleic and alpha-linolenic acids in HepG2 cells. J Nutr 132: 1115-1121, 2002.

- 54. Evans M, Lin X, Odle J, and McIntosh M. Trans-10, cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid increases fatty acid oxidation in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *J Nutr* 132: 450-455, 2002.
- 55. Faeh D, Minehira K, Schwarz JM, Periasamy R, Park S, and Tappy L. Effect of fructose overfeeding and fish oil administration on hepatic de novo lipogenesis and insulin sensitivity in healthy men. *Diabetes* 54: 1907-1913, 2005.
- 56. **Farrell GC, and Larter CZ**. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: from steatosis to cirrhosis. *Hepatology* 43: S99-S112, 2006.
- 57. **Fievet C, Fruchart JC, and Staels B**. PPARalpha and PPARgamma dual agonists for the treatment of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 6: 606-614, 2006.
- 58. Frayn KN, Arner P, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Fatty acid metabolism in adipose tissue, muscle and liver in health and disease. *Essays Biochem* 42: 89-103, 2006.
- 59. Fruchart JC, and Duriez P. Mode of action of fibrates in the regulation of triglyceride and HDL-cholesterol metabolism. *Drugs Today (Barc)* 42: 39-64, 2006.
- 60. Fruchart JC, Duriez P, and Staels B. [Molecular mechanism of action of the fibrates]. *J Soc Biol* 193: 67-75, 1999.
- 61. **Fujimoto T, Ohsaki Y, Cheng J, Suzuki M, and Shinohara Y**. Lipid droplets: a classic organelle with new outfits. *Histochem Cell Biol* 130: 263-279, 2008.
- 62. **Fukuda N, and Ontko JA**. Interactions between fatty acid synthesis, oxidation, and esterification in the production of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins by the liver. *J Lipid Res* 25: 831-842, 1984.

- 63. Gallagher S, Winston SE, Fuller SA, and Hurrell JG. Immunoblotting and immunodetection. *Curr Protoc Immunol* Chapter 8: Unit 8 10, 2008.
- 64. Gatlin LA, See MT, Larick DK, Lin X, and Odle J. Conjugated linoleic acid in combination with supplemental dietary fat alters pork fat quality. *J Nutr* 132: 3105-3112, 2002.
- 65. **Gavino VC, Gavino G, Leblanc MJ, and Tuchweber B**. An isomeric mixture of conjugated linoleic acids but not pure cis-9, trans-11-octadecadienoic acid affects body weight gain and plasma lipids in hamsters. *J Nutr* 130: 27-29, 2000.
- 66. **George J, and Liddle C**. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: pathogenesis and potential for nuclear receptors as therapeutic targets. *Mol Pharm* 5: 49-59, 2008.
- 67. **Gervois P, Torra IP, Fruchart JC, and Staels B**. Regulation of lipid and lipoprotein metabolism by PPAR activators. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 38: 3-11, 2000.
- Ginsberg HN, Zhang YL, and Hernandez-Ono A. Regulation of plasma triglycerides in insulin resistance and diabetes. *Arch Med Res* 36: 232-240, 2005.
- 69. **Goldberg IJ, and Ginsberg HN**. Ins and outs modulating hepatic triglyceride and development of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* 130: 1343-1346, 2006.
- Goodman JM. Demonstrated and inferred metabolism associated with cytosolic lipid droplets. *J Lipid Res* 50: 2148-2156, 2009.
- Guerre-Millo M, Gervois P, Raspe E, Madsen L, Poulain P, Derudas B,
 Herbert JM, Winegar DA, Willson TM, Fruchart JC, Berge RK, and Staels
 B. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha activators improve insulin
 sensitivity and reduce adiposity. *J Biol Chem* 275: 16638-16642, 2000.

- 72. **Ha YL, Grimm NK, and Pariza MW**. Anticarcinogens from fried ground beef: heat-altered derivatives of linoleic acid. *Carcinogenesis* 8: 1881-1887, 1987.
- 73. Ha YL, Storkson J, and Pariza MW. Inhibition of benzo(a)pyrene-induced mouse forestomach neoplasia by conjugated dienoic derivatives of linoleic acid. *Cancer Res* 50: 1097-1101, 1990.
- 74. Hall AM, Brunt EM, Chen Z, Viswakarma N, Reddy JK, Wolins NE, and Finck BN. Dynamic and differential regulation of proteins that coat lipid droplets in fatty liver dystrophic mice. *J Lipid Res* 51: 554-563, 2010.
- 75. Hansmannel F, Clemencet MC, Le Jossic-Corcos C, Osumi T, Latruffe N, and Nicolas-Frances V. Functional characterization of a peroxisome proliferator response-element located in the intron 3 of rat peroxisomal thiolase B gene. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 311: 149-155, 2003.
- 76. Hargrave KM, Li C, Meyer BJ, Kachman SD, Hartzell DL, Della-Fera MA, Miner JL, and Baile CA. Adipose depletion and apoptosis induced by trans-10, cis-12 conjugated linoleic Acid in mice. *Obes Res* 10: 1284-1290, 2002.
- 77. **Havel PJ**. Dietary fructose: implications for dysregulation of energy homeostasis and lipid/carbohydrate metabolism. *Nutr Rev* 63: 133-157, 2005.
- 78. Havel RJ, Kane JP, Balasse EO, Segel N, and Basso LV. Splanchnic metabolism of free fatty acids and production of triglycerides of very low density lipoproteins in normotriglyceridemic and hypertriglyceridemic humans. *J Clin Invest* 49: 2017-2035, 1970.
- 79. Helledie T, Grontved L, Jensen SS, Kiilerich P, Rietveld L, Albrektsen T, Boysen MS, Nohr J, Larsen LK, Fleckner J, Stunnenberg HG, Kristiansen

K, and Mandrup S. The gene encoding the Acyl-CoA-binding protein is activated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma through an intronic response element functionally conserved between humans and rodents. *J Biol Chem* 277: 26821-26830, 2002.

- Henriksen EJ, Teachey MK, Taylor ZC, Jacob S, Ptock A, Kramer K, and Hasselwander O. Isomer-specific actions of conjugated linoleic acid on muscle glucose transport in the obese Zucker rat. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 285: E98-E105, 2003.
- 81. Hoekstra M, Kruijt JK, Van Eck M, and Van Berkel TJ. Specific gene expression of ATP-binding cassette transporters and nuclear hormone receptors in rat liver parenchymal, endothelial, and Kupffer cells. *J Biol Chem* 278: 25448-25453, 2003.
- 82. House RL, Cassady JP, Eisen EJ, McIntosh MK, and Odle J. Conjugated linoleic acid evokes de-lipidation through the regulation of genes controlling lipid metabolism in adipose and liver tissue. *Obes Rev* 6: 247-258, 2005.
- 83. Houseknecht KL, Vanden Heuvel JP, Moya-Camarena SY, Portocarrero CP, Peck LW, Nickel KP, and Belury MA. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid normalizes impaired glucose tolerance in the Zucker diabetic fatty fa/fa rat. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 244: 678-682, 1998.
- Huang J, Iqbal J, Saha PK, Liu J, Chan L, Hussain MM, Moore DD, and
 Wang L. Molecular characterization of the role of orphan receptor small
 heterodimer partner in development of fatty liver. *Hepatology* 46: 147-157, 2007.

- 85. Huang TH, Yang Q, Harada M, Uberai J, Radford J, Li GQ, Yamahara J, Roufogalis BD, and Li Y. Salacia oblonga root improves cardiac lipid metabolism in Zucker diabetic fatty rats: modulation of cardiac PPAR-alphamediated transcription of fatty acid metabolic genes. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 210: 78-85, 2006.
- 86. Iorio E, Di Vito M, Spadaro F, Ramoni C, Lococo E, Carnevale R, Lenti L, Strom R, and Podo F. Triacsin C inhibits the formation of 1H NMR-visible mobile lipids and lipid bodies in HuT 78 apoptotic cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1634: 1-14, 2003.
- 87. **Ip C, Chin SF, Scimeca JA, and Pariza MW**. Mammary cancer prevention by conjugated dienoic derivative of linoleic acid. *Cancer Res* 51: 6118-6124, 1991.
- Ip C, Dong Y, Thompson HJ, Bauman DE, and Ip MM. Control of rat mammary epithelium proliferation by conjugated linoleic acid. *Nutr Cancer* 39: 233-238, 2001.
- 89. Ip C, Ip MM, Loftus T, Shoemaker S, and Shea-Eaton W. Induction of apoptosis by conjugated linoleic acid in cultured mammary tumor cells and premalignant lesions of the rat mammary gland. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 9: 689-696, 2000.
- 90. **Julius U**. Influence of plasma free fatty acids on lipoprotein synthesis and diabetic dyslipidemia. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* 111: 246-250, 2003.
- 91. Kang K, Miyazaki M, Ntambi JM, and Pariza MW. Evidence that the antiobesity effect of conjugated linoleic acid is independent of effects on stearoyl-

CoA desaturase1 expression and enzyme activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 315: 532-537, 2004.

92. Kay JK, Mackle TR, Auldist MJ, Thomson NA, and Bauman DE. Endogenous synthesis of cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid in dairy cows fed fresh pasture. *J Dairy Sci* 87: 369-378, 2004.

93. Kechagias S, Ernersson A, Dahlqvist O, Lundberg P, Lindstrom T, and Nystrom FH. Fast-food-based hyper-alimentation can induce rapid and profound elevation of serum alanine aminotransferase in healthy subjects. *Gut* 57: 649-654, 2008.

- 94. Kelley DS, Bartolini GL, Warren JM, Simon VA, Mackey BE, and Erickson KL. Contrasting effects of t10,c12- and c9,t11-conjugated linoleic acid isomers on the fatty acid profiles of mouse liver lipids. *Lipids* 39: 135-141, 2004.
- 95. **Kepler CR, Hirons KP, McNeill JJ, and Tove SB**. Intermediates and products of the biohydrogenation of linoleic acid by Butyrinvibrio fibrisolvens. *J Biol Chem* 241: 1350-1354, 1966.
- 96. Kersten S, Mandard S, Escher P, Gonzalez FJ, Tafuri S, Desvergne B, and Wahli W. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha regulates amino acid metabolism. *FASEB J* 15: 1971-1978, 2001.
- 97. Kersten S, Seydoux J, Peters JM, Gonzalez FJ, Desvergne B, and Wahli W. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha mediates the adaptive response to fasting. *J Clin Invest* 103: 1489-1498, 1999.

- 98. Kim JH, Hubbard NE, Ziboh V, and Erickson KL. Conjugated linoleic acid reduction of murine mammary tumor cell growth through 5hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1687: 103-109, 2005.
- 99. Koronowicz A, Dulinska-Litewka J, Pisulewski P, and Laidler P. [Effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on proliferation of mammary cancer cells]. *Rocz Panstw Zakl Hig* 60: 261-267, 2009.
- 100. Kotronen A, Seppanen-Laakso T, Westerbacka J, Kiviluoto T, Arola J, Ruskeepaa AL, Oresic M, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Hepatic stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD)-1 activity and diacylglycerol but not ceramide concentrations are increased in the nonalcoholic human fatty liver. *Diabetes* 58: 203-208, 2009.
- 101. Kotronen A, Vehkavaara S, Seppala-Lindroos A, Bergholm R, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Effect of liver fat on insulin clearance. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 293: E1709-1715, 2007.
- 102. Kotronen A, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Fatty liver: a novel component of the metabolic syndrome. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28: 27-38, 2008.
- 103. Koutnikova H, Cock TA, Watanabe M, Houten SM, Champy MF, Dierich A, and Auwerx J. Compensation by the muscle limits the metabolic consequences of lipodystrophy in PPAR gamma hypomorphic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 14457-14462, 2003.
- 104. Kreider RB, Ferreira MP, Greenwood M, Wilson M, and Almada AL. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid supplementation during resistance training on body composition, bone density, strength, and selected hematological markers. J Strength Cond Res 16: 325-334, 2002.

- 105. Larsen TM, Toubro S, and Astrup A. Efficacy and safety of dietary supplements containing CLA for the treatment of obesity: evidence from animal and human studies. *J Lipid Res* 44: 2234-2241, 2003.
- 106. Latruffe N, Passilly P, Jannin B, Motojima K, Cherkaoui Malki M, Schohn H, Clemencet MC, Boscoboinik D, and Dauca M. Relationship between signal transduction and PPAR alpha-regulated genes of lipid metabolism in rat hepatic-derived Fao cells. *Cell Biochem Biophys* 32 Spring: 213-220, 2000.
- 107. Lee KN, Kritchevsky D, and Pariza MW. Conjugated linoleic acid and atherosclerosis in rabbits. *Atherosclerosis* 108: 19-25, 1994.
- 108. Lee KN, Pariza MW, and Ntambi JM. Conjugated linoleic acid decreases hepatic stearoyl-CoA desaturase mRNA expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 248: 817-821, 1998.
- 109. Lehrke M, and Lazar MA. The many faces of PPARgamma. *Cell* 123: 993-999, 2005.
- 110. Lewin TM, Kim JH, Granger DA, Vance JE, and Coleman RA. Acyl-CoA synthetase isoforms 1, 4, and 5 are present in different subcellular membranes in rat liver and can be inhibited independently. *J Biol Chem* 276: 24674-24679, 2001.
- 111. Lewin TM, Van Horn CG, Krisans SK, and Coleman RA. Rat liver acyl-CoA synthetase 4 is a peripheral-membrane protein located in two distinct subcellular organelles, peroxisomes, and mitochondrial-associated membrane. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 404: 263-270, 2002.

- 112. Lewis GF, Uffelman KD, Szeto LW, Weller B, and Steiner G. Interaction between free fatty acids and insulin in the acute control of very low density lipoprotein production in humans. *J Clin Invest* 95: 158-166, 1995.
- Li ZZ, Berk M, McIntyre TM, and Feldstein AE. Hepatic lipid partitioning and liver damage in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: role of stearoyl-CoA desaturase.
 J Biol Chem 284: 5637-5644, 2009.
- Liu MF, and Xu GH. [Function of PAT family proteins in the lipid metabolism].
 Sheng Li Ke Xue Jin Zhan 37: 103-107, 2006.
- Londos C, Sztalryd C, Tansey JT, and Kimmel AR. Role of PAT proteins in lipid metabolism. *Biochimie* 87: 45-49, 2005.
- 116. Luongo D, Bergamo P, and Rossi M. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid on growth and cytokine expression in Jurkat T cells. *Immunol Lett* 90: 195-201, 2003.
- 117. Luquet S, Lopez-Soriano J, Holst D, Gaudel C, Jehl-Pietri C, Fredenrich A, and Grimaldi PA. Roles of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPARdelta) in the control of fatty acid catabolism. A new target for the treatment of metabolic syndrome. *Biochimie* 86: 833-837, 2004.
- 118. Luyckx FH, Lefebvre PJ, and Scheen AJ. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: association with obesity and insulin resistance, and influence of weight loss. *Diabetes Metab* 26: 98-106, 2000.
- 119. Ma DW, Wierzbicki AA, Field CJ, and Clandinin MT. Conjugated linoleic acid in canadian dairy and beef products. *J Agric Food Chem* 47: 1956-1960, 1999.

- Majumder B, Wahle KW, Moir S, Schofield A, Choe SN, Farquharson A,
 Grant I, and Heys SD. Conjugated linoleic acids (CLAs) regulate the expression of key apoptotic genes in human breast cancer cells. *FASEB J* 16: 1447-1449, 2002.
- 121. Malmstrom R, Packard CJ, Watson TD, Rannikko S, Caslake M, Bedford D, Stewart P, Yki-Jarvinen H, Shepherd J, and Taskinen MR. Metabolic basis of hypotriglyceridemic effects of insulin in normal men. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 17: 1454-1464, 1997.
- 122. Malpuech-Brugere C, Verboeket-van de Venne WP, Mensink RP, Arnal MA, Morio B, Brandolini M, Saebo A, Lassel TS, Chardigny JM, Sebedio JL, and Beaufrere B. Effects of two conjugated linoleic Acid isomers on body fat mass in overweight humans. *Obes Res* 12: 591-598, 2004.
- 123. Mancini FP, Lanni A, Sabatino L, Moreno M, Giannino A, Contaldo F, Colantuoni V, and Goglia F. Fenofibrate prevents and reduces body weight gain and adiposity in diet-induced obese rats. *FEBS Lett* 491: 154-158, 2001.
- 124. **Mandard S, Muller M, and Kersten S**. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha target genes. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 61: 393-416, 2004.
- 125. Marceau P, Biron S, Hould FS, Marceau S, Simard S, Thung SN, and Kral JG. Liver pathology and the metabolic syndrome X in severe obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 84: 1513-1517, 1999.
- 126. **Martin D, Antequera T, Gonzalez E, Lopez-Bote C, and Ruiz J**. Changes in the fatty acid profile of the subcutaneous fat of swine throughout fattening as

affected by dietary conjugated linoleic acid and monounsaturated fatty acids. *J Agric Food Chem* 55: 10820-10826, 2007.

- 127. Martin G, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Staels B, and Auwerx J. Coordinate regulation of the expression of the fatty acid transport protein and acyl-CoA synthetase genes by PPARalpha and PPARgamma activators. *J Biol Chem* 272: 28210-28217, 1997.
- 128. Martin JC, Gregoire S, Siess MH, Genty M, Chardigny JM, Berdeaux O, Juaneda P, and Sebedio JL. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on lipidmetabolizing enzymes in male rats. *Lipids* 35: 91-98, 2000.
- 129. **Martin JC, and Valeille K**. Conjugated linoleic acids: all the same or to everyone its own function? *Reprod Nutr Dev* 42: 525-536, 2002.
- 130. Matsuda D, Namatame I, Ohshiro T, Ishibashi S, Omura S, and Tomoda H. Anti-atherosclerotic activity of triacsin C, an acyl-CoA synthetase inhibitor. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 61: 318-321, 2008.
- 131. Memon RA, Fuller J, Moser AH, Smith PJ, Feingold KR, and Grunfeld C. In vivo regulation of acyl-CoA synthetase mRNA and activity by endotoxin and cytokines. *Am J Physiol* 275: E64-72, 1998.
- 132. Moreno-Navarrete JM, Ortega FJ, Ricart W, and Fernandez-Real JM. Lactoferrin increases (172Thr)AMPK phosphorylation and insulin-induced (p473Ser)AKT while impairing adipocyte differentiation. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 33: 991-1000, 2009.
- 133. Motomura W, Inoue M, Ohtake T, Takahashi N, Nagamine M, Tanno S,Kohgo Y, and Okumura T. Up-regulation of ADRP in fatty liver in human and

liver steatosis in mice fed with high fat diet. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 340: 1111-1118, 2006.

- 134. Moya-Camarena SY, Van den Heuvel JP, and Belury MA. Conjugated linoleic acid activates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha and beta subtypes but does not induce hepatic peroxisome proliferation in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1436: 331-342, 1999.
- 135. Munday JS, Thompson KG, and James KA. Dietary conjugated linoleic acids promote fatty streak formation in the C57BL/6 mouse atherosclerosis model. *Br J Nutr* 81: 251-255, 1999.
- 136. Muoio DM, Lewin TM, Wiedmer P, and Coleman RA. Acyl-CoAs are functionally channeled in liver: potential role of acyl-CoA synthetase. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 279: E1366-1373, 2000.
- 137. Murakami K, Tobe K, Ide T, Mochizuki T, Ohashi M, Akanuma Y, Yazaki Y, and Kadowaki T. A novel insulin sensitizer acts as a coligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha (PPAR-alpha) and PPAR-gamma: effect of PPAR-alpha activation on abnormal lipid metabolism in liver of Zucker fatty rats. *Diabetes* 47: 1841-1847, 1998.
- Murphy S, Martin S, and Parton RG. Lipid droplet-organelle interactions; sharing the fats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1791: 441-447, 2009.
- 139. Nagao K, Inoue N, Wang YM, Shirouchi B, and Yanagita T. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid alleviates nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in Zucker (fa/fa) rats. *J Nutr* 135: 9-13, 2005.

- 140. Nagao K, Inoue N, Wang YM, and Yanagita T. Conjugated linoleic acid enhances plasma adiponectin level and alleviates hyperinsulinemia and hypertension in Zucker diabetic fatty (fa/fa) rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 310: 562-566, 2003.
- 141. Namatame I, Tomoda H, Arai H, Inoue K, and Omura S. Complete inhibition of mouse macrophage-derived foam cell formation by triacsin C. *J Biochem* 125: 319-327, 1999.
- 142. **Napal L, Marrero PF, and Haro D**. An intronic peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-binding sequence mediates fatty acid induction of the human carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A. *J Mol Biol* 354: 751-759, 2005.
- 143. **Navarro V, Fernandez-Quintela A, Churruca I, and Portillo MP**. The body fat-lowering effect of conjugated linoleic acid: a comparison between animal and human studies. *J Physiol Biochem* 62: 137-147, 2006.
- 144. **Negro F, and Sanyal AJ**. Hepatitis C virus, steatosis and lipid abnormalities: clinical and pathogenic data. *Liver Int* 29 Suppl 2: 26-37, 2009.
- 145. **Neuschwander-Tetri BA**. Nontriglyceride hepatic lipotoxicity: the new paradigm for the pathogenesis of NASH. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 12: 49-56, 2010.
- 146. Neuschwander-Tetri BA, and Caldwell SH. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: summary of an AASLD Single Topic Conference. *Hepatology* 37: 1202-1219, 2003.
- 147. **Nicolosi RJ, Rogers EJ, Kritchevsky D, Scimeca JA, and Huth PJ**. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid reduces plasma lipoproteins and early aortic atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic hamsters. *Artery* 22: 266-277, 1997.

- 148. Nielsen S, Guo Z, Johnson CM, Hensrud DD, and Jensen MD. Splanchnic lipolysis in human obesity. *J Clin Invest* 113: 1582-1588, 2004.
- 149. Noto A, Zahradka P, Ryz NR, Yurkova N, Xie X, and Taylor CG. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid preserves pancreatic function and reduces inflammatory markers in obese, insulin-resistant rats. *Metabolism* 56: 142-151, 2007.
- 150. Noto A, Zahradka P, Yurkova N, Xie X, Nitschmann E, Ogborn M, and Taylor CG. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces hepatic steatosis, improves liver function, and favorably modifies lipid metabolism in obese insulin-resistant rats. *Lipids* 41: 179-188, 2006.
- 151. Noto A, Zahradka P, Yurkova N, Xie X, Truong H, Nitschmann E, Ogborn MR, and Taylor CG. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid decreases adipocyte size and favorably modifies adipokine status and insulin sensitivity in obese, insulin-resistant rats. *Metabolism* 56: 1601-1611, 2007.
- 152. **Oakes ND, Thalen PG, Jacinto SM, and Ljung B**. Thiazolidinediones increase plasma-adipose tissue FFA exchange capacity and enhance insulin-mediated control of systemic FFA availability. *Diabetes* 50: 1158-1165, 2001.
- 153. Ochoa JJ, Farquharson AJ, Grant I, Moffat LE, Heys SD, and Wahle KW. Conjugated linoleic acids (CLAs) decrease prostate cancer cell proliferation: different molecular mechanisms for cis-9, trans-11 and trans-10, cis-12 isomers. *Carcinogenesis* 25: 1185-1191, 2004.
- 154. Oh YS, Lee HS, Cho HJ, Lee SG, Jung KC, and Park JH. Conjugated linoleic acid inhibits DNA synthesis and induces apoptosis in TSU-Pr1 human bladder cancer cells. *Anticancer Res* 23: 4765-4772, 2003.

- 155. Ostrowska E, Muralitharan M, Cross RF, Bauman DE, and Dunshea FR. Dietary conjugated linoleic acids increase lean tissue and decrease fat deposition in growing pigs. *J Nutr* 129: 2037-2042, 1999.
- 156. Ostrowska E, Suster D, Muralitharan M, Cross RF, Leury BJ, Bauman DE, and Dunshea FR. Conjugated linoleic acid decreases fat accretion in pigs: evaluation by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry. *Br J Nutr* 89: 219-229, 2003.
- 157. **Pariza MW, Park Y, and Cook ME**. The biologically active isomers of conjugated linoleic acid. *Prog Lipid Res* 40: 283-298, 2001.
- 158. **Pariza MW, Park Y, and Cook ME**. Conjugated linoleic acid and the control of cancer and obesity. *Toxicol Sci* 52: 107-110, 1999.
- 159. Park HS, Cho HY, Ha YL, and Park JH. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid increases the mRNA ratio of Bax/Bcl-2 in the colonic mucosa of rats. *J Nutr Biochem* 15: 229-235, 2004.
- 160. Park HS, Ryu JH, Ha YL, and Park JH. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) induces apoptosis of colonic mucosa in 1,2-dimethylhydrazine-treated rats: a possible mechanism of the anticarcinogenic effect by CLA. *Br J Nutr* 86: 549-555, 2001.
- 161. Park Y, Albright KJ, Liu W, Storkson JM, Cook ME, and Pariza MW. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid on body composition in mice. *Lipids* 32: 853-858, 1997.
- 162. Park Y, Storkson JM, Albright KJ, Liu W, and Pariza MW. Evidence that the trans-10,cis-12 isomer of conjugated linoleic acid induces body composition changes in mice. *Lipids* 34: 235-241, 1999.

- 163. **Parks EJ, Skokan LE, Timlin MT, and Dingfelder CS**. Dietary sugars stimulate fatty acid synthesis in adults. *J Nutr* 138: 1039-1046, 2008.
- 164. Parodi PW. Cows' milk fat components as potential anticarcinogenic agents. J Nutr 127: 1055-1060, 1997.
- 165. Patsouris D, Mandard S, Voshol PJ, Escher P, Tan NS, Havekes LM, Koenig W, Marz W, Tafuri S, Wahli W, Muller M, and Kersten S. PPARalpha governs glycerol metabolism. *J Clin Invest* 114: 94-103, 2004.
- 166. **Patsouris D, Reddy JK, Muller M, and Kersten S**. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha mediates the effects of high-fat diet on hepatic gene expression. *Endocrinology* 147: 1508-1516, 2006.
- 167. **Paul A, Chan L, and Bickel PE**. The PAT family of lipid droplet proteins in heart and vascular cells. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 10: 461-466, 2008.
- 168. Paumelle R, Blanquart C, Briand O, Barbier O, Duhem C, Woerly G, Percevault F, Fruchart JC, Dombrowicz D, Glineur C, and Staels B. Acute antiinflammatory properties of statins involve peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha via inhibition of the protein kinase C signaling pathway. *Circ Res* 98: 361-369, 2006.
- 169. Pawella LM, Hashani M, Schirmacher P, and Straub BK. [Lipid dropletassociated proteins in steatosis : Effects of induction and siRNA-mediated downregulation of PAT proteins in cell culture models of hepatocyte steatosis.]. *Pathologe* 2010.
- 170. **Peters JM, Park Y, Gonzalez FJ, and Pariza MW**. Influence of conjugated linoleic acid on body composition and target gene expression in peroxisome

proliferator-activated receptor alpha-null mice. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1533: 233-242, 2001.

- 171. Petersen KF, Dufour S, Befroy D, Lehrke M, Hendler RE, and Shulman GI. Reversal of nonalcoholic hepatic steatosis, hepatic insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia by moderate weight reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 54: 603-608, 2005.
- 172. Petersen KF, Dufour S, Feng J, Befroy D, Dziura J, Dalla Man C, Cobelli C, and Shulman GI. Increased prevalence of insulin resistance and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in Asian-Indian men. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103: 18273-18277, 2006.
- 173. Petrik MB, McEntee MF, Johnson BT, Obukowicz MG, and Whelan J.
 Highly unsaturated (n-3) fatty acids, but not alpha-linolenic, conjugated linoleic or gamma-linolenic acids, reduce tumorigenesis in Apc(Min/+) mice. *J Nutr* 130: 2434-2443, 2000.
- 174. Pietilainen KH, Rissanen A, Kaprio J, Makimattila S, Hakkinen AM,
 Westerbacka J, Sutinen J, Vehkavaara S, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Acquired obesity is associated with increased liver fat, intra-abdominal fat, and insulin resistance in young adult monozygotic twins. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288: E768-774, 2005.
- 175. Pollard MR, Gunstone FD, Morris LJ, and James AT. The delta 5 and delta 6 desaturation of fatty acids of varying chain length by rat liver: a preliminary report. *Lipids* 15: 690-693, 1980.

176. Pourcet B, Pineda-Torra I, Derudas B, Staels B, and Glineur C.

SUMOylation of human peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha inhibits its trans-activity through the recruitment of the nuclear corepressor NCoR. *J Biol Chem* 285: 5983-5992, 2010.

- 177. Priore P, Giudetti AM, Natali F, Gnoni GV, and Geelen MJ. Metabolism and short-term metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acids in rat hepatocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1771: 1299-1307, 2007.
- 178. Puri P, Baillie RA, Wiest MM, Mirshahi F, Choudhury J, Cheung O, Sargeant C, Contos MJ, and Sanyal AJ. A lipidomic analysis of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Hepatology* 46: 1081-1090, 2007.
- 179. Qiu L, Wu X, Chau JF, Szeto IY, Tam WY, Guo Z, Chung SK, Oates PJ, Chung SS, and Yang JY. Aldose reductase regulates hepatic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha phosphorylation and activity to impact lipid homeostasis. *J Biol Chem* 283: 17175-17183, 2008.
- 180. Rahman SM, Huda MN, Uddin MN, and Akhteruzzaman S. Short-term administration of conjugated linoleic acid reduces liver triglyceride concentration and phosphatidate phosphohydrolase activity in OLETF rats. *J Biochem Mol Biol* 35: 494-497, 2002.
- 181. Rahman SM, Wang Y, Yotsumoto H, Cha J, Han S, Inoue S, and Yanagita T. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid on serum leptin concentration, body-fat accumulation, and beta-oxidation of fatty acid in OLETF rats. *Nutrition* 17: 385-390, 2001.

- 182. Ravikumar B, Carey PE, Snaar JE, Deelchand DK, Cook DB, Neely RD, English PT, Firbank MJ, Morris PG, and Taylor R. Real-time assessment of postprandial fat storage in liver and skeletal muscle in health and type 2 diabetes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288: E789-797, 2005.
- Reaven GM. Insulin resistance and human disease: a short history. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol 9: 387-406, 1998.
- 184. Reinartz A, Ehling J, Leue A, Liedtke C, Schneider U, Kopitz J, Weiss T, Hellerbrand C, Weiskirchen R, Knuchel R, and Gassler N. Lipid-induced upregulation of human acyl-CoA synthetase 5 promotes hepatocellular apoptosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1801: 1025-1035, 2010.
- 185. Riserus U, Arner P, Brismar K, and Vessby B. Treatment with dietary trans10cis12 conjugated linoleic acid causes isomer-specific insulin resistance in obese men with the metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* 25: 1516-1521, 2002.
- 186. Riserus U, Smedman A, Basu S, and Vessby B. Metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid in humans: the Swedish experience. *Am J Clin Nutr* 79: 1146S-1148S, 2004.
- 187. Robenek H, Buers I, Hofnagel O, Robenek MJ, Troyer D, and Severs NJ. Compartmentalization of proteins in lipid droplet biogenesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1791: 408-418, 2009.
- 188. Roche HM, Noone E, Sewter C, Mc Bennett S, Savage D, Gibney MJ, O'Rahilly S, and Vidal-Puig AJ. Isomer-dependent metabolic effects of conjugated linoleic acid: insights from molecular markers sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c and LXRalpha. *Diabetes* 51: 2037-2044, 2002.

- 189. Rosen ED, Sarraf P, Troy AE, Bradwin G, Moore K, Milstone DS, Spiegelman BM, and Mortensen RM. PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. *Mol Cell* 4: 611-617, 1999.
- 190. Ryder JW, Portocarrero CP, Song XM, Cui L, Yu M, Combatsiaris T, Galuska D, Bauman DE, Barbano DM, Charron MJ, Zierath JR, and Houseknecht KL. Isomer-specific antidiabetic properties of conjugated linoleic acid. Improved glucose tolerance, skeletal muscle insulin action, and UCP-2 gene expression. *Diabetes* 50: 1149-1157, 2001.
- 191. Ryysy L, Hakkinen AM, Goto T, Vehkavaara S, Westerbacka J, Halavaara J, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Hepatic fat content and insulin action on free fatty acids and glucose metabolism rather than insulin absorption are associated with insulin requirements during insulin therapy in type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 49: 749-758, 2000.
- 192. Saadeh S. Nonalcoholic Fatty liver disease and obesity. *Nutr Clin Pract* 22: 1-10, 2007.
- 193. **Satory DL, and Smith SB**. Conjugated linoleic acid inhibits proliferation but stimulates lipid filling of murine 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *J Nutr* 129: 92-97, 1999.
- 194. Schadinger SE, Bucher NL, Schreiber BM, and Farmer SR. PPARgamma2 regulates lipogenesis and lipid accumulation in steatotic hepatocytes. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288: E1195-1205, 2005.
- 195. Sebedio JL, Angioni E, Chardigny JM, Gregoire S, Juaneda P, and BerdeauxO. The effect of conjugated linoleic acid isomers on fatty acid profiles of liver

and adipose tissues and their conversion to isomers of 16:2 and 18:3 conjugated fatty acids in rats. *Lipids* 36: 575-582, 2001.

- 196. Sehat N, Kramer JK, Mossoba MM, Yurawecz MP, Roach JA, Eulitz K, Morehouse KM, and Ku Y. Identification of conjugated linoleic acid isomers in cheese by gas chromatography, silver ion high performance liquid chromatography and mass spectral reconstructed ion profiles. Comparison of chromatographic elution sequences. *Lipids* 33: 963-971, 1998.
- 197. Seppala-Lindroos A, Vehkavaara S, Hakkinen AM, Goto T, Westerbacka J, Sovijarvi A, Halavaara J, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Fat accumulation in the liver is associated with defects in insulin suppression of glucose production and serum free fatty acids independent of obesity in normal men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87: 3023-3028, 2002.
- 198. Shen C, Meng Q, Schmelzer E, and Bader A. Gel entrapment culture of rat hepatocytes for investigation of tetracycline-induced toxicity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 238: 178-187, 2009.
- 199. Shimabukuro M, Zhou YT, Levi M, and Unger RH. Fatty acid-induced beta cell apoptosis: a link between obesity and diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 95: 2498-2502, 1998.
- 200. Sisk MB, Hausman DB, Martin RJ, and Azain MJ. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid reduces adiposity in lean but not obese Zucker rats. *J Nutr* 131: 1668-1674, 2001.
- 201. Slawik M, and Vidal-Puig AJ. Lipotoxicity, overnutrition and energy metabolism in aging. *Ageing Res Rev* 5: 144-164, 2006.

- 202. Smedman A, and Vessby B. Conjugated linoleic acid supplementation in humans--metabolic effects. *Lipids* 36: 773-781, 2001.
- 203. **Smith SA**. Peroxisomal proliferate-activated receptors and the regulation of lipid oxidation and adipogenesis. *Biochem Soc Trans* 25: 1242-1248, 1997.
- 204. Stringer DM, Zahradka P, Declercq VC, Ryz NR, Diakiw R, Burr LL, Xie X, and Taylor CG. Modulation of lipid droplet size and lipid droplet proteins by trans-10,cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid parallels improvements in hepatic steatosis in obese, insulin-resistant rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1801: 1375-1385, 2010.
- 205. Stringer DM, Zahradka P, Declercq VC, Ryz NR, Diakiw R, Burr LL, Xie X, and Taylor CG. Modulation of lipid droplet size and lipid droplet proteins by Trans-10,cis-12 conjugated linoleic acid parallels improvements in hepatic steatosis in obese, insulin-resistant rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2010.
- 206. Szczepaniak LS, Nurenberg P, Leonard D, Browning JD, Reingold JS, Grundy S, Hobbs HH, and Dobbins RL. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy to measure hepatic triglyceride content: prevalence of hepatic steatosis in the general population. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288: E462-468, 2005.
- 207. **Takahashi Y, Kushiro M, Shinohara K, and Ide T**. Activity and mRNA levels of enzymes involved in hepatic fatty acid synthesis and oxidation in mice fed conjugated linoleic acid. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1631: 265-273, 2003.
- 208. Tamasi V, Miller KK, Ripp SL, Vila E, Geoghagen TE, and Prough RA.Modulation of receptor phosphorylation contributes to activation of peroxisome
proliferator activated receptor alpha by dehydroepiandrosterone and other peroxisome proliferators. *Mol Pharmacol* 73: 968-976, 2008.

- 209. Tan NS, Michalik L, Desvergne B, and Wahli W. Multiple expression control mechanisms of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and their target genes. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 93: 99-105, 2005.
- 210. Tanaka N, and Aoyama T. [PPAR and NASH]. *Nippon Rinsho* 64: 1089-1094, 2006.
- 211. Tanaka T, Yamamoto J, Iwasaki S, Asaba H, Hamura H, Ikeda Y, Watanabe M, Magoori K, Ioka RX, Tachibana K, Watanabe Y, Uchiyama Y, Sumi K, Iguchi H, Ito S, Doi T, Hamakubo T, Naito M, Auwerx J, Yanagisawa M, Kodama T, and Sakai J. Activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta induces fatty acid beta-oxidation in skeletal muscle and attenuates metabolic syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100: 15924-15929, 2003.
- 212. **Targher G**. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, the metabolic syndrome and the risk of cardiovascular disease: the plot thickens. *Diabet Med* 24: 1-6, 2007.
- 213. Taylor CG, and Zahradka P. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid and insulin sensitivity and resistance in rodent models. *Am J Clin Nutr* 79: 1164S-1168S, 2004.
- 214. **Terpstra AH**. Effect of conjugated linoleic acid on body composition and plasma lipids in humans: an overview of the literature. *Am J Clin Nutr* 79: 352-361, 2004.
- 215. Thiel-Cooper RL, Parrish FC, Jr., Sparks JC, Wiegand BR, and Ewan RC.
 Conjugated linoleic acid changes swine performance and carcass composition. J
 Anim Sci 79: 1821-1828, 2001.

- 216. Thiele C, and Spandl J. Cell biology of lipid droplets. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 20: 378-385, 2008.
- 217. **Thom E, Wadstein J, and Gudmundsen O**. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces body fat in healthy exercising humans. *J Int Med Res* 29: 392-396, 2001.
- 218. Tiikkainen M, Bergholm R, Vehkavaara S, Rissanen A, Hakkinen AM, Tamminen M, Teramo K, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Effects of identical weight loss on body composition and features of insulin resistance in obese women with high and low liver fat content. *Diabetes* 52: 701-707, 2003.
- 219. Tiikkainen M, Hakkinen AM, Korsheninnikova E, Nyman T, Makimattila S, and Yki-Jarvinen H. Effects of rosiglitazone and metformin on liver fat content, hepatic insulin resistance, insulin clearance, and gene expression in adipose tissue in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 53: 2169-2176, 2004.
- 220. Toomey S, Roche H, Fitzgerald D, and Belton O. Regression of pre-established atherosclerosis in the apoE-/- mouse by conjugated linoleic acid. *Biochem Soc Trans* 31: 1075-1079, 2003.
- 221. **Truitt A, McNeill G, and Vanderhoek JY**. Antiplatelet effects of conjugated linoleic acid isomers. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1438: 239-246, 1999.
- 222. **Tsuboyama-Kasaoka N, Miyazaki H, Kasaoka S, and Ezaki O**. Increasing the amount of fat in a conjugated linoleic acid-supplemented diet reduces lipodystrophy in mice. *J Nutr* 133: 1793-1799, 2003.
- 223. Tsuboyama-Kasaoka N, Takahashi M, Tanemura K, Kim HJ, Tange T, Okuyama H, Kasai M, Ikemoto S, and Ezaki O. Conjugated linoleic acid

supplementation reduces adipose tissue by apoptosis and develops lipodystrophy in mice. *Diabetes* 49: 1534-1542, 2000.

- 224. Vanden Heuvel JP. The PPAR resource page. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1771: 1108-1112, 2007.
- 225. Vanden Heuvel JP, Kuslikis BI, Shrago E, and Peterson RE. Inhibition of long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase by the peroxisome proliferator perfluorodecanoic acid in rat hepatocytes. *Biochem Pharmacol* 42: 295-302, 1991.
- 226. Vazquez M, Roglans N, Cabrero A, Rodriguez C, Adzet T, Alegret M, Sanchez RM, and Laguna JC. Bezafibrate induces acyl-CoA oxidase mRNA levels and fatty acid peroxisomal beta-oxidation in rat white adipose tissue. *Mol Cell Biochem* 216: 71-78, 2001.
- 227. Vidal H. [PPAR receptors: recent data]. Ann Endocrinol (Paris) 66: 1S5-9, 2005.
- 228. Wang LS, Huang YW, Sugimoto Y, Liu S, Chang HL, Ye W, Shu S, and Lin YC. Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) up-regulates the estrogen-regulated cancer suppressor gene, protein tyrosine phosphatase gamma (PTPgama), in human breast cells. *Anticancer Res* 26: 27-34, 2006.
- 229. Wang YM, Nagao K, Inoue N, Ujino Y, Shimada Y, Nagao T, Iwata T, Kamegai T, Yamauchi-Sato Y, and Yanagita T. Isomer-specific anti-obese and hypolipidemic properties of conjugated linoleic acid in obese OLETF rats. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 70: 355-362, 2006.
- 230. **Wang YW, and Jones PJ**. Conjugated linoleic acid and obesity control: efficacy and mechanisms. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 28: 941-955, 2004.

- 231. Wang YX, Lee CH, Tiep S, Yu RT, Ham J, Kang H, and Evans RM. Peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor delta activates fat metabolism to prevent obesity. *Cell* 113: 159-170, 2003.
- Warren JM, Simon VA, Bartolini G, Erickson KL, Mackey BE, and Kelley
 DS. Trans-10,cis-12 CLA increases liver and decreases adipose tissue lipids in
 mice: possible roles of specific lipid metabolism genes. *Lipids* 38: 497-504, 2003.
- 233. Wei Y, Wang D, and Pagliassotti MJ. Saturated fatty acid-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress and apoptosis are augmented by trans-10, cis-12conjugated linoleic acid in liver cells. *Mol Cell Biochem* 303: 105-113, 2007.
- 234. Wendel AA, and Belury MA. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid and troglitazone on lipid accumulation and composition in lean and Zucker diabetic fatty (fa/fa) rats. *Lipids* 41: 241-247, 2006.
- 235. West DB, Blohm FY, Truett AA, and DeLany JP. Conjugated linoleic acid persistently increases total energy expenditure in AKR/J mice without increasing uncoupling protein gene expression. *J Nutr* 130: 2471-2477, 2000.
- 236. West DB, Delany JP, Camet PM, Blohm F, Truett AA, and Scimeca J. Effects of conjugated linoleic acid on body fat and energy metabolism in the mouse. *Am J Physiol* 275: R667-672, 1998.
- 237. Wiegand BR, Sparks JC, Parrish FC, Jr., and Zimmerman DR. Duration of feeding conjugated linoleic acid influences growth performance, carcass traits, and meat quality of finishing barrows. *J Anim Sci* 80: 637-643, 2002.

- 238. Willner IR, Waters B, Patil SR, Reuben A, Morelli J, and Riely CA. Ninety patients with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis: insulin resistance, familial tendency, and severity of disease. *Am J Gastroenterol* 96: 2957-2961, 2001.
- 239. Wilson TA, Nicolosi RJ, Saati A, Kotyla T, and Kritchevsky D. Conjugated linoleic acid isomers reduce blood cholesterol levels but not aortic cholesterol accumulation in hypercholesterolemic hamsters. *Lipids* 41: 41-48, 2006.
- 240. **Wolfrum C, Borrmann CM, Borchers T, and Spener F**. Fatty acids and hypolipidemic drugs regulate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma-mediated gene expression via liver fatty acid binding protein: a signaling path to the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 2323-2328, 2001.
- 241. Wolins NE, Brasaemle DL, and Bickel PE. A proposed model of fat packaging by exchangeable lipid droplet proteins. *FEBS Lett* 580: 5484-5491, 2006.
- 242. Wong MW, Chew BP, Wong TS, Hosick HL, Boylston TD, and Shultz TD. Effects of dietary conjugated linoleic acid on lymphocyte function and growth of mammary tumors in mice. *Anticancer Res* 17: 987-993, 1997.
- 243. **Wu D, and Cederbaum AI**. Development and properties of HepG2 cells that constitutively express CYP2E1. *Methods Mol Biol* 447: 137-150, 2008.
- 244. Wu LL, Dunning KR, Yang X, Russell DL, Lane M, Norman RJ, and Robker RL. High-Fat Diet Causes Lipotoxicity Responses in Cumulus-Oocyte Complexes and Decreased Fertilization Rates. *Endocrinology* 2010.
- 245. Xu X, Storkson J, Kim S, Sugimoto K, Park Y, and Pariza MW. Short-term intake of conjugated linoleic acid inhibits lipoprotein lipase and glucose

metabolism but does not enhance lipolysis in mouse adipose tissue. *J Nutr* 133: 663-667, 2003.

- 246. Yamasaki M, Chujo H, Nou S, Tachibana H, and Yamada K. Alleviation of the cytotoxic activity induced by trans10, cis12-conjugated linoleic acid in rat hepatoma dRLh-84 cells by oleic or palmitoleic acid. *Cancer Lett* 196: 187-196, 2003.
- 247. Yamasaki M, Ikeda A, Oji M, Tanaka Y, Hirao A, Kasai M, Iwata T, Tachibana H, and Yamada K. Modulation of body fat and serum leptin levels by dietary conjugated linoleic acid in Sprague-Dawley rats fed various fat-level diets. *Nutrition* 19: 30-35, 2003.
- 248. Yasui Y, Kim M, and Tanaka T. PPAR Ligands for Cancer Chemoprevention. PPAR Res 2008: 548919, 2008.
- 249. Yki-Jarvinen H. Thiazolidinediones and the liver in humans. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 20: 477-483, 2009.
- Yki-Jarvinen H, and Westerbacka J. The fatty liver and insulin resistance. *Curr Mol Med* 5: 287-295, 2005.
- 251. Yun HS, Do SH, Jeong WI, Yang HJ, Yuan DW, Hong IH, Lee HR, Lee IS, Kim YK, Choi MS, Kim HA, and Jeong KS. Cytotoxic effects of the conjugated linoleic acid isomers t10c12, c9t11-CLA and mixed form on rat hepatic stellate cells and CCl4-induced hepatic fibrosis. *J Nutr Biochem* 19: 175-183, 2008.

- 252. Zahradka P, Werner J, and Yau L. Expression and regulation of the insulinlike growth factor-1 receptor by growing and quiescent H4IIE hepatoma. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1375: 131-139, 1998.
- 253. Zahradka P, Wright B, Fuerst M, Yurkova N, Molnar K, and Taylor CG. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha and gamma ligands differentially affect smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 317: 651-659, 2006.
- Zahradka P, and Yau L. ADP-ribosylation and gene expression. *Mol Cell Biochem* 138: 91-98, 1994.
- 255. Zehmer JK, Huang Y, Peng G, Pu J, Anderson RG, and Liu P. A role for lipid droplets in inter-membrane lipid traffic. *Proteomics* 9: 914-921, 2009.

10. APPENDIX

NAFLD is closely linked with obesity and an anti-obesity role for PPAR α is well supported by several studies in rodents administered synthetic PPAR α agonists (71, 123, 226). PPAR α can exist in a phosphorylated form, and its phosphorylation is increased by ciprofibrate in Fao cells (106). In addition to its ligand-induced activation, PPAR α is regulated by ubiquitination (176) and phosphorylation *via* MAPK, PKA and PKC (49). The MAPK signal transduction pathway has an important role in cell growth. Thus, discovering if MAPK signal transduction pathway mediates PPAR α activation *via* affecting the phosphorylation of this nuclear receptor could provide useful insights into the role of PPAR α in NAFLD and its associated hepatocellular damage.

Results from the studies presented in this thesis have demonstrated that the CLA isomers (c9,t11 and t10,c12) differentially affect the phosphorylation of PPAR α with the t10,c12 isomer decreasing phosphorylation at Ser 21 position and the c9,t11 isomer reducing PPAR α phosphorylation at both the serine sites (S12 as well as S21). However, this effect was associated with the activation of the p44/42 MAPK, particularly with the t10,c12 CLA isomer. These results suggest that the CLA isomers affect PPAR α phosphorylation and thereby its transcriptional activity in a MAPK-independent manner. Other investigators (208) have shown that PPAR α mRNA and protein levels as well as PPAR α transcriptional activity are increased through decreasing receptor phosphorylation at serines in the AF1 region of human hepatoma cells (HepG2) (discussed in detail in

Review of Literature 2.1.3-iii PPARs- PPAR α section). However, the effect of the PPAR α agonist, Wy14643, on PPAR α and MAPK phosphorylation was not studied.

Therefore, preliminary studies were undertaken to investigate the effects of Wy14643 on PPAR α and MAPK phosphorylation using quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells. Cellular protein extracts were used for immunoblotting. Our results showed that treatment with 250 μ M Wy14643 significantly reduced the level of phospho-PPAR α S12 compared to the untreated control or to the 50 μ M Wy14643 group (Figure A.1). Similarly, levels of phospho-PPAR α S21 were significantly lower in the quiescent H4IIE cells treated with higher concentrations of Wy14643 (100 μ M and 250 μ M groups) compared to the untreated control or to the 50 μ M Wy14643 treatment group (Figure A.2). Interestingly, treatment with 250 μ M Wy14643 significantly increased the phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK compared to all the other groups (Figure A.3).

Therefore, in order to gain more insight into the underlying molecular mechanism of Wy14643-induced p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation, we studied the effects of the potent p44/42 inhibitor, PD98059 on p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation. Interestingly, treatment with 10⁻⁵ M PD98059 significantly reduced Wy14643-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK compared to the Wy14643 treatment group (Figure A.4).

We next compared the effects of the individual CLA isomers (c9,t11 or t10,c12) on Wy14643-induced p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation. It was found that neither of the CLA isomers affected p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation compared to the untreated controls (Figures A.4 and A.5). However, concomitant addition of 250 μ M Wy14643 in the t10,c12 CLA isomer treated cells significantly increased p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation (Figure A.5). These results indicate that Wy14643-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 135

MAPK is not affected by the t10,c12 CLA isomer. Interestingly, combined treatment of the c9,t11 CLA isomer and Wy14643 significantly reduced p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation compared to the Wy14643 treatment group (Figure A.6). Thus, the c9,t11 CLA isomer potentially suppresses Wy14643-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK similar to the p44/42 inhibitor, PD98059.

To conclude, our preliminary results have demonstrated that the PPAR α agonist, Wy14643 reduced the phosphorylation of PPARa at serines 12 and 21 in the AF1 region of the H4IIE rat hepatoma cells. We also observed that this effect of Wy14643 was associated with increased phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK. Thus, we report that Wy14643 reduces hepatic PPARα phosphorylation at both serine 12 and 21 positions whereas the t10,c12 CLA isomer reduces PPARα phosphorylation only at Ser 21. Therefore, we speculate that these compounds increase PPAR α transcriptional activity via reduced receptor phosphorylation in a MAPK independent manner, since these changes were associated with increased MAPK phosphorylation. It is also interesting to note that only the c9,t11 CLA isomer suppressed the Wy14643-induced p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation. This effect was not observed with the t10,c12 CLA isomer. In addition, Wy14643 affects p44/42 MAPK in a MEK-dependent manner since PD 98059 inhibited Wy14643-induced p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation. It would be interesting to see if the c9,t11 CLA isomer affects p44/42 MAPK phosphorylation in a similar manner. Future research may help to further clarify the underlying molecular mechanism of CLA isomers and Wy14643 on the MAPK signalling pathway and PPARa transcriptional activation.



Figure A.1: Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-12 levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 50 μ M, 100 μ M and 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) in triplicate for 30 minutes to study the dose response of this PPAR α agonist on the phosphorylation of PPAR α . Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using an antibody that recognizes phospho-PPAR α S-12. A representative blot is shown.



Figure A.2: Phospho-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) α S-21 levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 50 μ M, 100 μ M and 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) in triplicate for 30 minutes to study the dose response of this PPAR α agonist on the phosphorylation of PPAR α . Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using an antibody that recognizes phospho-PPAR α S-21. A representative blot is shown.



Figure A.3: Effects of Wy14643 on phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were treated with 50 μ M, 100 μ M and 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) in triplicate for 15 minutes to study the dose response of this PPAR α agonist on the phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK. Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p44/42 MAPK and p44/42 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.



Figure A.4: Effects of PD98059 on phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 10^{-5} M PD98059 (PD) for 30 minutes followed by the addition of 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) for another 30 minutes (in triplicate) to assess the effects of this potent p44/42 MAPK inhibitor on Wy-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK. Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p44/42 MAPK and p44/42 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.



Figure A.5: Effects of *trans*-10,*cis*-12 (t10,c12) CLA isomer on phosphop44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 60 μ M *trans*-10,*cis*-12 CLA (t10,c12) for 30 minutes followed by the addition of 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) for another 30 minutes (in triplicate) to assess the effects of this CLA isomer on Wy-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK. Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p44/42 MAPK and p44/42 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.



Figure A.6: Effects of *cis-9,trans-*11 (c9,t11) CLA isomer on phospho-p44/42 MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) levels in quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells.

a) Quiescent H4IIE rat hepatoma cells were pre-treated with 60 μ M *cis-9,trans-11* CLA (c9,t11) for 30 minutes followed by the addition of 250 μ M Wy14643 (Wy) for another 30 minutes (in triplicate) to assess the effects of this CLA isomer on Wy-induced phosphorylation of p44/42 MAPK. Cellular protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblotting using antibodies that recognize phospho-p44/42 MAPK and p44/42 MAPK. A representative blot is shown.